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requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  ☒    No  ☐
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submit and post such files).    Yes  ☒    No  ☐
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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

CBIZ, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Unaudited)

(In thousands)
 
   

SEPTEMBER 30,
2015   

DECEMBER 31,
2014  

ASSETS    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 1,840   $ 979  
Restricted cash    25,606    28,293  
Accounts receivable, net    175,755    143,048  
Deferred income taxes – current, net    5,951    3,638  
Other current assets    13,375    15,292  
Assets of discontinued operations    3,682    5,229  

    
 

   
 

Current assets before funds held for clients    226,209    196,479  
Funds held for clients    110,023    182,847  

    
 

   
 

Total current assets    336,232    379,326  
Property and equipment, net    20,370    18,475  
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net    528,173    526,462  
Assets of deferred compensation plan    61,138    60,290  
Notes receivable – non-current    2,405    2,714  
Other assets    3,689    3,977  

    
 

   
 

Total assets   $ 952,007   $ 991,244  
    

 

   

 

LIABILITIES    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable   $ 35,065   $ 36,781  
Income taxes payable – current    9,119    2,384  
Accrued personnel costs    36,529    39,878  
Notes payable – current    —      760  
Contingent purchase price liability – current    15,218    16,692  
Other current liabilities    13,434    13,434  
Liabilities of discontinued operations    431    1,303  

    
 

   
 

Current liabilities before client fund obligations    109,796    111,232  
Client fund obligations    109,536    183,936  

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    219,332    295,168  
Convertible notes, net    49,123    96,569  
Bank debt    151,000    107,400  
Income taxes payable – non-current    4,487    4,166  
Deferred income taxes – non-current, net    4,288    2,864  
Deferred compensation plan obligations    61,138    60,290  
Contingent purchase price liability – non-current    9,560    16,676  
Other non-current liabilities    7,522    8,266  

    
 

   
 

Total non-current liabilities    287,118    296,231  
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities    506,450    591,399  
    

 
   

 

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Common stock    1,254    1,188  
Additional paid-in capital    650,337    604,284  
Retained earnings    256,766    220,753  
Treasury stock    (462,167)   (425,685) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (“AOCL”)    (633)   (695) 

    
 

   
 

Total stockholders’ equity    445,557    399,845  
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 952,007   $ 991,244  
    

 

   

 

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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CBIZ, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Unaudited)

(In thousands, except per share data)
 
   

THREE MONTHS ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,   

NINE MONTHS ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,  

   2015   2014   2015   2014  
Revenue   $ 187,102   $ 180,269   $ 586,010   $ 562,461  
Operating expenses    159,175    155,233    493,156    475,488  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Gross margin    27,927    25,036    92,854    86,973  
Corporate general and administrative expenses    8,043    8,889    24,523    27,393  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Operating income    19,884    16,147    68,331    59,580  
Other (expense) income:      

Interest expense    (1,840)   (3,123)   (7,665)   (10,133) 
Gain on sale of operations, net    5    17    106    93  
Other (expense) income, net    (1,673)   (1,368)   60    4,543  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total other expense, net    (3,508)   (4,474)   (7,499)   (5,497) 
Income from continuing operations before income tax expense    16,376    11,673    60,832    54,083  
Income tax expense    6,787    4,353    25,055    22,291  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Income from continuing operations    9,589    7,320    35,777    31,792  
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax    (561)   (239)   (1,226)   (814) 
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax    1,172    607    1,462    106  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income   $ 10,200   $ 7,688   $ 36,013   $ 31,084  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Earnings (loss) per share:      
Basic:      

Continuing operations   $ 0.19   $ 0.15   $ 0.72   $ 0.66  
Discontinued operations    0.01    0.01    —      (0.02) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income   $ 0.20   $ 0.16   $ 0.72   $ 0.64  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Diluted:      
Continuing operations   $ 0.18   $ 0.14   $ 0.68   $ 0.62  
Discontinued operations    0.01    0.01    0.01    (0.02) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income   $ 0.19   $ 0.15   $ 0.69   $ 0.60  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Basic weighted average shares outstanding    51,736    48,451    49,812    48,303  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding    54,445    51,209    52,285    51,469  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Comprehensive Income:      
Net income   $ 10,200   $ 7,688   $ 36,013   $ 31,084  
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax    16    (66)   62    31  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Comprehensive income   $ 10,216   $ 7,622   $ 36,075   $ 31,115  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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CBIZ, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

(In thousands)
 
   

NINE MONTHS ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,  

   2015   2014  
Cash flows from operating activities:   
Net income   $ 36,013   $ 31,084  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:    

(Gain) loss from discontinued operations, net of tax    (236)   708  
Gain on sale of operations, net    (106)   (93) 
Loss on early extinguishment of convertible debt    833    1,529  
Depreciation and amortization expense    15,168    14,560  
Amortization of discount on notes and deferred financing costs    2,140    3,312  
Amortization of discount on contingent earnout liability    115    97  
Bad debt expense, net of recoveries    4,625    3,687  
Adjustment to contingent earnout liability    (3,075)   (3,592) 
Deferred income taxes    (1,144)   1,621  
Employee stock awards    4,319    4,812  
Excess tax benefits from share based payment arrangements    (560)   (469) 

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions and divestitures:    
Restricted cash    2,687    (2,668) 
Accounts receivable, net    (37,699)   (35,295) 
Other assets    1,409    (2,120) 
Accounts payable    (1,716)   398  
Income taxes payable    7,568    5,611  
Accrued personnel costs    (3,350)   711  
Other liabilities    (798)   305  

    
 

   
 

Operating cash flows provided by continuing operations    26,193    24,198  
Operating cash flows used in discontinued operations    (417)   (1,378) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by operating activities    25,776    22,820  
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from investing activities:    
Business acquisitions and purchases of client lists, net of cash acquired    (9,560)   (32,970) 
Purchases of client fund investments    (12,494)   (12,955) 
Proceeds from the sales and maturities of client fund investments    8,865    5,671  
Proceeds (payments) from sales of divested operations    106    (148) 
Increase in funds held for clients    76,492    61,431  
Additions to property and equipment, net    (6,186)   (3,724) 
Collection of notes receivable    304    1,619  

    
 

   
 

Investing cash flows provided by continuing operations    57,527    18,924  
Investing cash flows provided by discontinued operations    2,694    —    

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by investing activities    60,221    18,924  
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from financing activities:    
Proceeds from bank debt    272,300    307,900  
Payment of bank debt    (228,700)   (248,400) 
Payment on early extinguishment of convertible debt    (17,172)   (30,621) 
Payment for acquisition of treasury stock    (36,482)   (20,479) 
Decrease in client funds obligations    (74,400)   (54,147) 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options    6,564    7,848  
Payment of contingent consideration of acquisitions    (7,806)   (2,077) 
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock awards    560    469  
Payment of notes payable    —      (1,442) 
Payment of acquired debt    —      (1,169) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in financing activities    (85,136)   (42,118) 
    

 
   

 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    861    (374) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    979    771  

    
 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 1,840   $ 397  
    

 

   

 

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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CBIZ, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

 
1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of CBIZ, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“CBIZ,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our”) have
been prepared in accordance with the instructions to Form 10-Q and do not include all of the information and notes required by the accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) for complete financial statements.

All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements do
not reflect the operations or accounts of variable interest entities as the impact is not material to the financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows of CBIZ.

These interim unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto
included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014. In the opinion of management, all adjustments of a
normal recurring nature considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. Operating results for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the full year ending December 31, 2015.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Management’s estimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to,
estimates of collectability of accounts receivable and unbilled revenue, the realizability of goodwill and other intangible assets, the fair value of certain
assets, the valuation of stock options in determining compensation expense, estimates of accrued liabilities (such as incentive compensation, self-
funded health insurance accruals, legal reserves, income tax uncertainties and contingent purchase price obligations) the provision for income taxes, the
realizability of deferred tax assets, and other factors. Management’s estimates and assumptions are derived from and are continually evaluated based
upon available information, judgment and experience. Changes in circumstances could cause actual results to differ materially from those estimates.

A description of revenue recognition policies is included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.

 
2. Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable, net balances at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 were as follows (in thousands):
 

   September 30,   December 31, 
   2015    2014  
Trade accounts receivable   $ 120,878    $ 107,174  
Unbilled revenue    67,719     47,789  

    
 

    
 

Total accounts receivable    188,597     154,963  
Allowance for doubtful accounts    (12,842)    (11,915) 

    
 

    
 

Accounts receivable, net   $ 175,755    $ 143,048  
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CBIZ, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited) (Continued)

 
3. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, Net

The components of goodwill and other intangible assets, net at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 were as follows (in thousands):
 

   September 30,   December 31, 
   2015    2014  
Goodwill   $ 441,316    $ 435,231  
Intangible assets:     

Client lists    146,009     140,187  
Other intangible assets    7,150     6,482  

    
 

    
 

Total intangible assets    153,159     146,669  
    

 
    

 

Total goodwill and intangibles assets    594,475     581,900  
Accumulated amortization:     

Client lists    (64,475)    (54,213) 
Other intangible assets    (1,827)    (1,225) 

    
 

    
 

Total accumulated amortization    (66,302)    (55,438) 
    

 
    

 

Goodwill and other intangible assets, net   $ 528,173    $ 526,462  
    

 

    

 

 
4. Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipment and intangible assets for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and
2014 was as follows (in thousands):

 
   

Three Months Ended
September 30,    

Nine Months Ended
September 30,  

   2015    2014    2015    2014  
Operating expenses   $ 5,000    $ 4,941    $14,847    $14,226  
Corporate general and administrative expenses    117     101     321     334  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total depreciation and amortization expense   $ 5,117    $ 5,042    $15,168    $14,560  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
5. Debt and Financing Arrangements

CBIZ had two primary financing arrangements at September 30, 2015 that provided the Company with the capital necessary to meet its working capital
needs as well as the flexibility to continue with its strategic initiatives, including business acquisitions and share repurchases:

 

 1. $400.0 million unsecured credit facility (the “credit facility”)
 

 2. 4.875% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes (the “2010 Notes”)

On October 16, 2015, CBIZ entered into a Second Amendment to the Credit Agreement that governs the credit facility, dated as of July 28, 2014, by
and among the Company and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent and bank, and other participating banks, to incorporate swap obligations
in the Agreement. This amendment had no impact on the terms of the Credit Agreement (other than as described above), the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets, Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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CBIZ, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited) (Continued)

 
On April 10, 2015, CBIZ entered into an Amendment to the Credit Agreement that governs the credit facility, dated as of July 28, 2014, by and among
the Company and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent and bank, and other participating banks, to remove certain events from the definition
of Change of Control contained therein. This amendment had no impact on the terms of the Credit Agreement (other than as described above), the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

In addition to the discussion below, refer to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 for additional details of CBIZ’s
debt and financing arrangements.

2010 Notes

The $48.4 million outstanding principal amount of the 2010 Notes became due October 1, 2015. Holders will receive $1,000 in cash for each $1,000
principal amount of 2010 Notes along with any premium of the conversion value over par value. The $71.8 million conversion value of the 2010 Notes
was determined by a cash averaging period that began on October 5, 2015 and ended on October 30, 2015. CBIZ expects to settle all payments in cash
on November 4, 2015 with the funds available under the credit facility. At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the 2010 Notes were classified
as a non-current liability due to management’s intention to retire the 2010 Notes during the year ended December 31, 2015 with the funds available
under the credit facility.

Beginning October 1, 2015, the common stock equivalents related to the 2010 Notes will have less of an impact on diluted weighted average shares
outstanding due to the maturation of the 2010 Notes. The common stock equivalent impact during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015
was 1.6 million shares and 1.3 million shares, respectively.

Prior to the October 1, 2015 maturity date, CBIZ issued approximately 5.1 million shares of CBIZ common stock and paid cash consideration in
exchange for $49.3 million of the Company’s 2010 Notes, in two privately negotiated transactions during the second quarter of 2015. Notes
repurchased are deemed to be extinguished.

 

 •  These transactions will result in lower interest expense of approximately $3.2 million on an annualized basis.
 

 
•  A non-operating charge of approximately $0.8 million was recorded in the second quarter of 2015 related to the two privately negotiated

transactions and is included in “Other income (expense), net” in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
for the nine months ended September 30, 2015.

The carrying amount of the 2010 Notes at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 were as follows (in thousands):
 

   September 30,   December 31, 
   2015    2014  
Principal amount of notes   $ 48,373    $ 97,650  
Unamortized discount    —       (1,831) 

    
 

    
 

Net carrying amount   $ 48,373    $ 95,819  
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CBIZ, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited) (Continued)

 
The discount on the liability component of the 2010 Notes was being amortized using the effective interest method based upon an annual effective rate
of 7.5%, which represented the market rate for similar debt without a conversion option at the issuance date. The discount was being amortized over the
term of the 2010 Notes which is five years from the date of issuance.

Bank Debt

CBIZ has a $400.0 million unsecured credit facility with Bank of America as agent for a group of eight participating banks that matures in July 2019.
The balance outstanding under the credit facility was $151.0 million and $107.4 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
Rates for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 were as follows:

 
   

Nine Months Ended
September 30,  

   2015   2014  
Weighted average rates    2.04%   2.55% 

    

 

   

 

Range of effective rates    1.65% - 3.25%   1.87% - 3.25% 
    

 

   

 

CBIZ had approximately $144.0 million of available funds under the credit facility at September 30, 2015, net of outstanding letters of credit and
performance guarantees of $3.2 million. The credit facility provides CBIZ with operating flexibility and funding to support seasonal working capital
needs and other strategic initiatives such as acquisitions and share repurchases. CBIZ was in compliance with its debt covenants at September 30, 2015.

2006 Notes

At September 30, 2015, CBIZ had $750,000 aggregate principal amount outstanding of its 2006 Notes. The 2006 Notes mature on June 1, 2026 unless
earlier redeemed, repurchased or converted.

Interest Expense

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, CBIZ recognized interest expense as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
   2015    2014    2015    2014  
2010 Notes (1)   $ 808    $ 2,132    $4,455    $ 7,188  
Credit facility (2)    1,032    $ 991     3,210     2,945  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total interest expense   $ 1,840    $ 3,123    $7,665    $10,133  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1) Components of interest expense related to the 2010 Notes include the contractual coupon interest, amortization of discount and amortization of deferred

financing costs. The portion related to the 2006 Notes is included but is insignificant.
(2) Components of interest expense related to the credit facility include amortization of deferred financing costs, commitment fees and line of credit fees.
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CBIZ, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited) (Continued)

 
6. Commitments and Contingencies

Letters of Credit and Guarantees

CBIZ provides letters of credit to landlords (lessors) of its leased premises in lieu of cash security deposits, which totaled $2.3 million at both
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014. In addition, CBIZ provides license bonds to various state agencies to meet certain licensing
requirements. The amount of license bonds outstanding at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 totaled $2.0 million and $1.9 million,
respectively.

CBIZ acted as guarantor on various letters of credit for a CPA firm with which it has an affiliation, which totaled $0.9 million and $1.9 million at
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. CBIZ has recognized a liability for the fair value of the obligations undertaken in issuing
these guarantees, which is recorded as other current liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Management does not expect any
material changes to result from these instruments as performance under the guarantees is not expected to be required.

Legal Proceedings

In 2010, CBIZ, Inc. and its subsidiary, CBIZ MHM, LLC (fka CBIZ Accounting, Tax & Advisory Services, LLC) (the “CBIZ Parties”), were named as
defendants in lawsuits filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Arizona and the Superior Court for Maricopa County, Arizona. The federal
court case is captioned Robert Facciola, et al v. Greenberg Traurig LLP, et al, and the state court cases are captioned Victims Recovery, LLC v.
Greenberg Traurig LLP, et al, Roger Ashkenazi, et al v. Greenberg Traurig LLP, et al, Mary Marsh, et al v. Greenberg Traurig LLP, et al; and ML
Liquidating Trust v. Mayer Hoffman McCann PC, et al. Prior to these suits CBIZ MHM, LLC was named as a defendant in Jeffrey C. Stone v.
Greenberg Traurig LLP, et al.

These lawsuits arose out of the bankruptcy of Mortgages Ltd., a mortgage lender to developers in the Phoenix, Arizona area. Various other professional
firms and individuals not related to the Company were also named defendants in these lawsuits.

Mortgages Ltd. had been audited by Mayer Hoffman McCann PC (“Mayer Hoffman”), a CPA firm that has an administrative services agreement with
CBIZ. The lawsuits asserted claims against Mayer Hoffman for, among others things, violations of the Arizona Securities Act, common law fraud, and
negligent misrepresentation, and sought to hold the CBIZ Parties vicariously liable for Mayer Hoffman’s conduct as either a statutory control person
under the Arizona Securities Act or a joint venturer under Arizona common law. CBIZ is not a CPA firm, does not provide audits, and did not audit any
of the entities at issue in these lawsuits, nor is CBIZ a control person of, or a joint venture with, Mayer Hoffman.

With the exception of claims being pursued by two plaintiffs from the Ashkenazi lawsuit (“Baldino Group”), all other matters have been dismissed or
settled without payment by the CBIZ Parties. The Baldino Group’s claims, which allege damages of approximately $16.0 million, are currently stayed
as to the CBIZ Parties and Mayer Hoffman and no trial date has been set.

The CBIZ Parties deny all allegations of wrongdoing made against them and are vigorously defending the remaining proceedings. In particular, the
CBIZ Parties are not control persons under the Arizona Securities Act of, or in a joint venture with, Mayer Hoffman. The CBIZ Parties do not have, in
any respects, the legal right to control Mayer Hoffman’s audits or any say in how the audits are conducted. The Company has been advised by Mayer
Hoffman that it denies all allegations of wrongdoing made against it and that it intends to continue vigorously defending the matters.

The Company cannot predict the outcome of the above matters or estimate the possible loss or range of loss, if any. Although the proceedings are
subject to uncertainties inherent in the litigation process and the ultimate disposition of these proceedings is not presently determinable, management
believes that the allegations are without merit and that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the
consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.
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CBIZ, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited) (Continued)

 
In addition to those items disclosed above, the Company is, from time to time, subject to claims and suits arising in the ordinary course of business.
Although the ultimate disposition of such proceedings is not presently determinable, management does not believe that the ultimate resolution of these
matters will have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

 
7. Financial Instruments

Bonds

In connection with CBIZ’s payroll business and the collection of client funds, CBIZ invests a portion of these funds in corporate and municipal bonds.
CBIZ held corporate and municipal bonds with par values totaling $39.9 million and $36.4 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively. All bonds are investment grade and are classified as available-for-sale. These bonds have maturity or callable dates ranging from October
2015 through October 2020, and are included in “Funds held for clients - current” in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets based on the
intent and ability of the Company to sell these investments at any time under favorable conditions. The following table summarizes CBIZ’s bond
activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and the twelve months ended December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

 

   

Nine
Months Ended
September 30,

2015    

Twelve
Months Ended
December 31,

2014  
Fair value at beginning of period   $ 38,399    $ 30,011  
Purchases    12,494     14,089  
Sales    —       (245) 
Maturities and calls    (8,865)    (6,426) 
Increase in bond premium    148     1,155  
Fair market value adjustment    39     (185) 

    
 

    
 

Fair value at end of period   $ 42,215    $ 38,399  
    

 

    

 

Interest Rate Swaps

CBIZ uses interest rate swaps to manage interest rate risk exposure primarily through converting portions of floating rate debt under the credit facility
to a fixed rate basis. These agreements involve the receipt or payment of floating rate amounts in exchange for fixed rate interest payments over the life
of the agreements without an exchange of the underlying principal amounts. CBIZ does not enter into derivative instruments for trading or speculative
purposes. See the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 for further discussion on CBIZ’s interest rate swaps.

CBIZ’s interest rate swap agreement expired in June 2015. At December 31, 2014, the interest rate swap was classified as a liability derivative. The
following table summarizes CBIZ’s outstanding interest rate swap and its classification in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at
December 31, 2014 (in thousands).

 
   December 31, 2014
   Notional    Fair    Balance Sheet
   Amount    Value (2)   Location

Interest rate swap (1)   $25,000    $ (126)   
Other current and non-current
liabilities

 
(1) Represents interest rate swap with a notional value of $25 million which expired in June 2015. Under the terms of the interest rate swap, CBIZ paid

interest at a fixed rate of 1.41% plus applicable margin as stated in the agreement, and received interest that varied with the three-month LIBOR.
(2) See additional disclosures regarding fair value measurements in Note 8.
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The following table summarizes the effects of the interest rate swap on CBIZ’s accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands):

 
   

Gain Recognized
in AOCL, net of tax    

Loss Reclassified
from AOCL into Expense  

   Three Months Ended    Three Months Ended  
   September 30,    September 30,  
   2015    2014    2015    2014  
Interest rate swap   $ —      $ 44    $ —      $ 75  

   Nine Months Ended    Nine Months Ended  
   September 30,    September 30,  
   2015    2014    2015    2014  
Interest rate swap   $ 79    $ 161    $ 128    $ 301  

 
8. Fair Value Measurements

The following table summarizes CBIZ’s assets and liabilities at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis subsequent to initial recognition and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized by the Company to determine
such fair value (in thousands):

 
   Level  

September 30,
2015    

December 31,
2014  

Deferred compensation plan assets   1   $ 61,138    $ 60,290  
Corporate bonds   1   $ 42,215    $ 38,399  
Interest rate swap   2   $ —      $ (126) 
Contingent purchase price liabilities   3   $ (24,778)   $ (33,368) 

During the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, there were no transfers between the valuation hierarchy Levels 1, 2 and 3. The following
table summarizes the change in Level 3 fair values of the Company’s contingent purchase price liability for the nine months ended September 30, 2015
and 2014 (pre-tax basis) (in thousands):

 
   2015    2014  
Beginning balance – January 1   $(33,368)   $(25,196) 
Additions from business acquisitions    (4,186)    (13,953) 
Settlement of contingent purchase price liabilities    9,816     2,285  
Change in fair value of contingencies    3,075     3,592  
Change in net present value of contingencies    (115)    (97) 

    
 

    
 

Ending balance – September 30   $(24,778)   $(33,369) 
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Contingent Purchase Price Liabilities - Contingent purchase price liabilities arise from business acquisitions and are classified as Level 3 due to the
utilization of a probability weighted discounted cash flow approach to determine the fair value of the contingency. A contingent liability is established
for each acquisition that has a contingent purchase price component and normally extends over a term of three to six years. The significant
unobservable input used in the fair value measurement of the contingent purchase price liabilities is the future performance of the acquired business.
The future performance of the acquired business directly impacts the contingent purchase price that is paid to the seller; thus, performance that exceeds
target could result in a higher payout, and a performance under target could result in a lower payout. Changes in the expected amount of potential
payouts are recorded as adjustments to the initial contingent purchase price liability, with the same amount being recorded in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. These liabilities are reviewed quarterly and adjusted if necessary. See Note 13 for further
discussion of contingent purchase price liabilities.

The following table presents financial instruments that are not carried at fair value but which require fair value disclosure as of September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

 
   September 30, 2015    December 31, 2014  

   
Carrying

Value    
Fair

Value    
Carrying

Value    
Fair

Value  
2006 Convertible Notes   $ 750    $ 750    $ 750    $ 750  
2010 Convertible Notes   $48,373    $64,093    $95,819    $118,157  

The fair value of CBIZ’s 2006 Notes and 2010 Notes including the conversion feature was determined based upon their most recent quoted market
price and as such, is considered to be a Level 1 fair value measurement. The 2006 Notes and the 2010 Notes are carried at face value less any
unamortized debt discount. See Note 5 for further discussion of CBIZ’s debt instruments.

In addition, the carrying amounts of CBIZ’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair value because of the
short maturity of these instruments, and the carrying value of bank debt approximates fair value as the interest rate on the bank debt is variable and
approximates current market rates. As a result, the fair value measurement of CBIZ’s bank debt is considered to be Level 2.

 
9. Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Changes in the components of shareholders’ equity for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 were as follows:
 

   

Issued
Common

Shares    
Treasury
Shares    

Common
Stock    

Additional
Paid-In
Capital   

Retained
Earnings    

Treasury
Stock   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss   Totals  

December 31, 2014    118,820     69,333    $ 1,188    $604,284   $220,753    $(425,685)  $ (695)  $399,845  
Net income    —       —       —       —      36,013     —      —      36,013  
Other comprehensive income    —       —       —       —      —       —      62    62  
Share repurchases    —       3,895     —       —      —       (36,482)   —      (36,482) 
Restricted stock    360     —       4     (4)   —       —      —      —    
Stock options exercised    935     —       9     6,555    —       —      —      6,564  
Share-based compensation    —       —       —       4,319    —       —      —      4,319  
Tax effect from employee share plans    —       —       —       369    —       —      —      369  
Convertible bond retirement    5,069     —       51     32,840    —       —      —      32,891  
Business acquisitions    214     —       2     1,974    —       —      —      1,976  

    
 

         
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

September 30, 2015    125,398     73,228    $ 1,254    $650,337   $256,766    $(462,167)  $ (633)  $445,557  
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10. Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following table is a summary of other comprehensive income (loss) and discloses the tax impact of each component of other comprehensive
income (loss) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands):

 
   

Three Months Ended
September 30,    

Nine Months Ended
September 30,  

   2015    2014    2015    2014  
Net unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities, net of income taxes (1)   $ 31    $ (95)   $ 24    $ (86) 
Net unrealized gain on interest rate swaps, net of income taxes (2)    —       44     79     161  
Foreign currency translation    (15)    (15)    (41)    (44) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total other comprehensive income (loss)   $ 16    $ (66)   $ 62    $ 31  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1) Net of income tax expense (benefit) of $21 and ($63) for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and net of income tax

expense of $16 and $57 for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
(2) Net of income tax expense of $0 and $26 for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and net of income tax expense of $46

and $95 for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

AOCL, net of tax, was approximately $0.6 million and $0.7 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. AOCL consisted of
adjustments, net of tax, to unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities and interest rate swaps, and foreign currency translation.

 
11. Employer Share Plans

Effective May 15, 2014, CBIZ shareholders approved a new plan, the CBIZ, Inc. 2014 Stock Incentive Plan (“2014 Plan”). The 2014 Plan is in addition
to the 2002 Amended and Restated CBIZ, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan (“2002 Plan”), pursuant to which CBIZ has granted various stock-based awards
through the year ended December 31, 2014. The terms and vesting schedules for stock-based awards vary by type and date of grant.

Beginning in 2015, the 2014 Plan replaces and, for future grants, supersedes the 2002 Plan. The operating terms of the 2014 Plan are substantially
similar to those of the 2002 Plan. Under the 2014 Plan, which expires in 2024, a maximum of 9.6 million stock options, shares of restricted stock or
other stock-based compensation awards may be granted. Shares subject to award under the 2014 Plan may be either authorized but unissued shares of
CBIZ common stock or treasury shares. Compensation expense for stock-based awards recognized during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 and 2014 was as follows (in thousands):

 
   

Three Months Ended
September 30,    

Nine Months Ended
September 30,  

   2015    2014    2015    2014  
Stock options   $ 583    $ 641    $1,958    $ 1,956  
Restricted stock awards    825     1,184     2,361     2,856  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total stock-based compensation expense   $ 1,408    $ 1,825    $4,319    $ 4,812  
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Stock award activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 was as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

 

   
Stock

Options    Restricted Stock Awards  

   

Number
of

Options    

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price Per

Share    

Number
of

Shares    

Weighted
Average

Grant-Date
Fair

Value (1)  
Outstanding at beginning of year    5,602    $ 7.06     1,039    $ 7.30  
Granted    900    $ 9.25     362    $ 9.12  
Exercised or released    (935)   $ 7.02     (437)   $ 7.11  
Expired or canceled    (69)   $ 7.10     (3)   $ 6.36  

    
 

      
 

  

Outstanding at September 30, 2015    5,498    $ 7.43     961    $ 8.08  
    

 

      

 

  

Exercisable at September 30, 2015    2,817    $ 6.92      
    

 

      

 
(1) Represents weighted average market value of the shares; awards are granted at no cost to the recipients.
 
  CBIZ utilized the Black-Scholes-Merton options-pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options on the date of grant. The fair value of stock

options granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 was $2.34. The following weighted average assumptions were utilized:
 

   
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2015

Expected volatility (1)   26.65%
Expected option life (years) (2)   4.64 
Risk-free interest rate (3)   1.32%
Expected dividend yield (4)   0.00%

 
(1) The expected volatility assumption was determined based upon the historical volatility of CBIZ’s stock price, using daily price intervals.
 

(2) The expected option life was determined based upon CBIZ’s historical data using a midpoint scenario, which assumes all options are exercised halfway
between the expiration date and the weighted average time it takes the option to vest.

 

(3) The risk-free interest rate assumption was based upon zero-coupon U.S. Treasury bonds with a term approximating the expected life of the respective
options.

 

(4) The expected dividend yield assumption was determined in view of CBIZ’s historical and estimated dividend payouts. CBIZ does not expect to change
its dividend payout policy in the foreseeable future.

 
12. Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands, except per share data).

 
   Three Months Ended    Nine Months Ended  
   September 30,    September 30,  
   2015    2014    2015    2014  
Numerator:         
Income from continuing operations   $ 9,589    $ 7,320    $35,777    $31,792  

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Denominator:         
Basic         
Weighted average common shares outstanding    51,736     48,451     49,812     48,303  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Diluted         
Stock options (1)    905     725     860     779  
Restricted stock awards    204     210     260     290  
Contingent shares (2)    34     102     34     102  
Convertible senior subordinated notes (3)    1,566     1,721     1,319     1,995  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding    54,445     51,209     52,285     51,469  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations   $ 0.19    $ 0.15    $ 0.72    $ 0.66  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations   $ 0.18    $ 0.14    $ 0.68    $ 0.62  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1) A total of 1.4 million and 1.5 million share based awards were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share for the three and nine months

ended September 30, 2015, respectively, and a total of 1.3 million and 1.1 million share based awards were excluded from the calculation of diluted
earnings per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively, as they were anti-dilutive.
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(2) Contingent shares represent additional shares to be issued for purchase price earned by former owners of businesses acquired by CBIZ.
(3) The dilutive impact of potential shares to be issued related to the 2010 Notes was based on the average share price for the three and nine months ended

September 30, 2015 of $9.75 and $9.29 compared to $8.53 and $8.73 for the same period in 2014. The average share prices for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 exceeded the conversion price of $7.41. Beginning October 1, 2015, the common stock equivalents related
to the 2010 Notes will have less of an impact on diluted weighted average shares outstanding due to the maturation of the 2010 Notes.

 
13. Acquisitions

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the consideration transferred, including contingent consideration. Acquisition-related costs
are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. The identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed and contingent consideration
are measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred over the
net of the amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. A significant portion of the goodwill is deductible for income tax purposes.
The operating results of acquired businesses are included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements beginning on the date of acquisition.

First quarter 2015

During the first quarter of 2015, CBIZ completed one acquisition described below for approximately $5.5 million aggregate net cash consideration and
$4.2 million in contingent consideration. CBIZ also purchased two client lists, which are reported in the Employee Services practice group. Total
consideration for these client lists was $0.1 million cash paid at closing and $0.3 million in guaranteed future consideration.

 

 

•  Effective March 1, 2015, CBIZ acquired Model Consulting, Inc. (“Model”), located in Trevose, Pennsylvania. Model provides employee
benefit consulting services to mid-sized companies in the Philadelphia and Southern New Jersey markets. Annualized revenue
attributable to Model is estimated to be approximately $4.2 million. Operating results attributable to Model are reported in the Employee
Services practice group.

Second quarter 2015

During the second quarter of 2015, CBIZ purchased one client list, which is reported in the Employee Services practice group. Total consideration for
this client list is $3.0 million. No acquisitions were completed in the second quarter of 2015.

Third quarter 2015

During the third quarter of 2015, CBIZ purchased two client lists, which are both reported in the Employee Services practice group. Total consideration
for these client lists was $0.2 million cash paid at closing and $0.5 million in future consideration. No acquisitions were completed in the third quarter
of 2015.
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First quarter 2014

During the first quarter of 2014, CBIZ completed three acquisitions for approximately $16.5 million aggregate net cash consideration, $1.9 million in
CBIZ common stock and $10.2 million in contingent consideration.

 

 
•  Effective January 1, 2014, CBIZ acquired Clearview National Partners, LLC (“Clearview”), located in Waltham, Massachusetts.

Clearview is a specialized employee benefits broker focused on providing employee benefit solutions to clients with more than 100
employees. Operating results attributable to Clearview are reported in the Employee Services practice group.

 

 
•  Effective January 1, 2014, CBIZ acquired Centric Insurance Agency (“Centric”), located in New Providence, New Jersey. Centric is an

insurance broker providing property and casualty insurance, with a specialty in education and public schools. Operating results
attributable to Centric are reported in the Employee Services practice group.

 

 

•  Effective February 1, 2014, CBIZ acquired Lewis Birch & Richardo, LLC (“LBR”), located in Tampa Bay, Florida. LBR is a professional
tax, accounting and consulting service provider with significant experience and expertise in matrimonial and family law litigation
support, not-for-profit entities and health care provider services. Operating results attributable to LBR are reported in the Financial
Services practice group.

Second quarter 2014

During the second quarter of 2014, CBIZ completed one acquisition for approximately $8.1 million aggregate net cash consideration, $0.9 million in
CBIZ common stock and $2.1 million in contingent consideration.

 

 
•  Effective June 1, 2014, CBIZ acquired Tegrit Group (“Tegrit”), located in Akron, Ohio. Tegrit is a national provider of actuarial

consulting and retirement plan administration. Operating results attributable to Tegrit are reported in the Employee Services practice
group.

Third quarter 2014

During the third quarter of 2014, CBIZ completed one acquisition for approximately $3.1 million aggregate net cash consideration and $1.9 million in
contingent consideration.

 

 
•  Effective September 1, 2014, CBIZ acquired Rognstad’s Inc. d.b.a. Sattler Insurance Agency (“Sattler”), based in Lewiston, Idaho,

provides property and casualty, personal, and life insurance services, with a specialty in outdoor recreation insurance, to businesses across
the United States. Operating results attributable to Sattler are reported in the Employee Services practice group.

Pro forma results of operations for these acquisitions have not been presented because the effects of the acquisitions, individually or in the aggregate,
were not significant to the Company’s results.
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Aggregate purchase price

The estimated fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively,
are as follows (in thousands):

 
   

Nine Months Ended
September 30,  

   2015    2014  
Cash   $ —      $ 382  
Accounts receivable, net    —       3,408  
Work in process, net    —       900  
Other assets    —       406  
Identifiable intangible assets    2,844     11,109  
Current liabilities    —       (3,690) 

    
 

    
 

Total identifiable net assets   $2,844    $12,515  
Goodwill    6,865     31,925  

    
 

    
 

Aggregate purchase price   $9,709    $44,440  
    

 

    

 

The goodwill of $6.9 million arising from the acquisition in the first nine months of 2015 consists largely of expected future earnings and cash flow
from the existing management team, as well as the synergies created by the integration of the new business within the CBIZ organization, including
cross-selling opportunities expected with the Company’s Employee Services and Financial Services practice groups, to help strengthen the Company’s
existing service offerings and expand market position. All of the goodwill recognized is deductible for income tax purposes. The goodwill of $6.9
million arising from the acquisition in the first nine months of 2015 is reported under the Employee Services operating segment.

Of the $31.9 million of goodwill arising from acquisitions closed during the first nine months of 2014, $9.2 million is reported under the Financial
Services operating segment and $22.7 million is reported under the Employee Services operating segment.

Contingent purchase price liability

Under the terms of the Model acquisition agreement, a portion of the purchase price is contingent on future performance of the business acquired.
Utilizing a probability weighted income approach, CBIZ determined that the fair value of the contingent consideration arrangement was $4.2 million,
of which $1.6 million was recorded in “Contingent purchase price liability – current” and $2.6 million was recorded in “Contingent purchase price
liability – non-current” in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2015.

Change in contingent purchase price liability related to prior acquisitions

During the nine months ended September 30, 2015, CBIZ reduced the fair value of the contingent purchase price liability related to prior acquisitions
by $3.1 million due to lower than originally projected future results of the acquired businesses. During the same period in 2014, CBIZ reduced the fair
value of the contingent purchase price liability related to prior acquisitions by $3.6 million due to lower than originally projected future results of the
acquired businesses. These reductions are included in “Other (expense) income, net” in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive
Income.

Contingent earnouts related to prior acquisitions

During the nine months ended September 30, 2015, CBIZ paid $7.8 million in cash and issued approximately 0.2 million shares of CBIZ common
stock valued at approximately $2.0 million as contingent earnouts for previous acquisitions. During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, CBIZ
paid $4.1 million in cash and issued approximately 0.2 million shares of CBIZ common stock as contingent earnouts for previous acquisitions.
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14. Discontinued Operations and Divestitures

CBIZ has divested, through sale or closure, business operations that do not contribute to the Company’s long-term objectives for growth or that are not
complementary to its target service offerings and markets. Divestitures are classified as discontinued operations provided they meet the criteria as
provided in Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-08, “Reporting Discontinued Operations
and Disclosures of Disposals of an Entity (Topic 360)” which was effective January 1, 2015. Discontinued operations through December 31, 2014
followed the criteria in FASB Accounting Standards Codification 205 “Presentation of Financial Statements – Discontinued Operations – Other
Presentation Matters.”

Discontinued Operations

Revenue and results from operations of discontinued operations are separately reported as “Loss from operations of discontinued operations, net of tax”
in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. For the nine months ended September 30, 2015, the loss on operations of
discontinued operations represents the results from the operations of two small businesses under the Financial Services segment that were discontinued
in December 2014 and subsequently sold during the nine months ended September 30, 2015. For the nine months ended September 30, 2014, the loss
on operations of discontinued operations represents the results from operations of the two businesses mentioned above as well as the Company’s
property tax business located in Leawood, Kansas that was discontinued in December 2013 and subsequently sold on June 1, 2014.

Revenue and results from operations of discontinued operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 were as follows (in
thousands):

 
   

Three Months Ended
September 30,    

Nine Months
Ended September 30,  

   2015    2014    2015    2014  
Revenue   $ 308    $ 3,223    $ 6,216    $10,708  

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Loss from discontinued operations before income tax   $ (859)   $ (367)   $(1,852)   $ (1,604) 
Income tax benefit    (298)    (128)    (626)    (790) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax   $ (561)   $ (239)   $(1,226)   $ (814) 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Gains from the sale of discontinued operations are recorded as “Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax,” in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. In addition, proceeds that are contingent upon a divested operation’s actual future performance are
recorded as “Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax” in the period they are earned.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, CBIZ sold two small businesses within the Financial Services segment that were
discontinued in December 2014. During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, CBIZ sold its property tax business located in Leawood, Kansas.
In addition, a loss was recorded representing the finalization of the working capital adjustment related to the August 2013 sale of Medical Management
Professionals.
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For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, gain on the disposal of discontinued operations was as follows (in thousands):

 
   

Three Months
Ended September 30,    

Nine Months
Ended September 30,  

   2015    2014    2015    2014  
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, before income tax   $ 1,381    $ 1,010    $ 1,510    $ 125  
Income tax expense    209     403     48     19  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax   $ 1,172    $ 607    $ 1,462    $ 106  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the assets and liabilities of businesses classified as discontinued operations were reported separately in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements and consisted of the following (in thousands):

 
   September 30,   December 31, 
   2015    2014  
Assets:     
Accounts receivable, net   $ 3,212    $ 4,699  
Other assets    470     530  

    
 

    
 

Assets of discontinued operations   $ 3,682    $ 5,229  
    

 

    

 

Liabilities:     
Accounts payable   $ 113    $ 388  
Accrued personnel    181     591  
Accrued expenses    137     324  

    
 

    
 

Liabilities of discontinued operations   $ 431    $ 1,303  
    

 

    

 

Divestitures

Gains and losses from divested operations and assets that do not qualify for treatment as discontinued operations are recorded as “Gain on sale of
operations, net” in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

 
20



Table of Contents

CBIZ, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited) (Continued)

 
15. Segment Disclosures

CBIZ’s business units have been aggregated into three practice groups: Financial Services, Employee Services and National Practices. The business
units have been aggregated based on the following factors: similarity of the products and services provided to clients; similarity of the regulatory
environment in which they operate; and similarity of economic conditions affecting long-term performance. The business units are managed along
these segment lines. A general description of services provided by each practice group is provided in the table below.

 
Financial Services  Employee Services  National Practices
•  Accounting  •  Employee Benefits  •  Managed Networking and
•  Tax  •  Property & Casualty      Hardware Services
•  Government Health Care  •  Retirement Plan Services  •  Health Care Consulting
    Consulting  •  Payroll Services  
•  Financial Advisory  •  Life Insurance  
•  Valuation  •  Human Capital Services  
•  Litigation Support  •  Compensation Consulting  
•  Risk Advisory Services  •  Executive Recruiting  
•  Real Estate Advisory  •  Actuarial Services  

   
   

Corporate and Other. Included in “Corporate and Other” are operating expenses that are not directly allocated to the individual business units. These
expenses are primarily comprised of certain health care costs, gains or losses attributable to assets held in the Company’s deferred compensation plan,
share-based compensation, consolidation and integration charges, certain professional fees, certain advertising costs and other various expenses.

Accounting policies of the practice groups are the same as those described in Note 1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2014. Upon consolidation, intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated, thus inter-segment revenue is not included in the
measure of profit or loss for the practice groups. Performance of the practice groups is evaluated on operating income excluding those costs listed
above, which are reported in “Corporate and Other.”
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Segment information for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 was as follows (in thousands):

 
   Three Months Ended September 30, 2015  

   
Financial
Services    

Employee
Services   

National
Practices   

Corporate
and

Other   Total  
Revenue   $118,354    $ 61,293   $ 7,455    $ —     $187,102  
Operating expenses (benefits)    101,979     51,043    6,644     (491)   159,175  

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Gross margin    16,375     10,250    811     491    27,927  
Corporate general & admin    —       —      —       8,043    8,043  

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Operating income (loss)    16,375     10,250    811     (7,552)   19,884  
Other income (expense):         

Interest expense    —       (9)   —       (1,831)   (1,840) 
Gain on sale of operations, net    —       —      —       5    5  
Other income (expense), net    475     462    2     (2,612)   (1,673) 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Total other income (expense)    475     453    2     (4,438)   (3,508) 
    

 
    

 
   

 
    

 
   

 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax expense   $ 16,850    $ 10,703   $ 813    $(11,990)  $ 16,376  
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

 
   Three Months Ended September 30, 2014  

   
Financial
Services    

Employee
Services   

National
Practices   

Corporate
and

Other   Total  
Revenue   $115,931    $ 56,891   $ 7,447    $ —     $180,269  
Operating expenses    98,987     47,194    6,585     2,467    155,233  

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Gross margin    16,944     9,697    862     (2,467)   25,036  
Corporate general & admin    —       —      —       8,889    8,889  

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Operating income (loss)    16,944     9,697    862     (11,356)   16,147  
Other income (expense):         

Interest expense    —       (7)   —       (3,116)   (3,123) 
Gain on sale of operations, net    —       —      —       17    17  
Other income (expense), net    191     97    4     (1,660)   (1,368) 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Total other income (expense)    191     90    4     (4,759)   (4,474) 
    

 
    

 
   

 
    

 
   

 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax expense   $ 17,135    $ 9,787   $ 866    $(16,115)  $ 11,673  
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CBIZ, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited) (Continued)

 
Segment information for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 was as follows (in thousands):

 
   Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015  

   
Financial
Services    

Employee
Services   

National
Practices    

Corporate
and

Other   Total  
Revenue   $378,857    $184,968   $22,185    $ —     $586,010  
Operating expenses    312,942     153,813    19,894     6,507    493,156  

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Gross margin    65,915     31,155    2,291     (6,507)   92,854  
Corporate general & admin    —       —      —       24,523    24,523  

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Operating income (loss)    65,915     31,155    2,291     (31,030)   68,331  
Other income (expense):         

Interest expense    —       (28)   —       (7,637)   (7,665) 
Gain on sale of operations, net    —       —      —       106    106  
Other income (expense), net    575     660    3     (1,178)   60  

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Total other income (expense)    575     632    3     (8,709)   (7,499) 
    

 
    

 
   

 
    

 
   

 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax expense   $ 66,490    $ 31,787   $ 2,294    $(39,739)  $ 60,832  
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

 
   Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014  

   
Financial
Services    

Employee
Services   

National
Practices    

Corporate
and

Other   Total  
Revenue   $372,832    $167,479   $22,150    $ —     $562,461  
Operating expenses    305,333     138,865    19,902     11,388    475,488  

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Gross margin    67,499     28,614    2,248     (11,388)   86,973  
Corporate general & admin    —       —      —       27,393    27,393  

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Operating income (loss)    67,499     28,614    2,248     (38,781)   59,580  
Other income (expense):         

Interest expense    —       (23)   —       (10,110)   (10,133) 
Gain on sale of operations, net    —       —      —       93    93  
Other income, net    232     472    4     3,835    4,543  

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Total other income (expense)    232     449    4     (6,182)   (5,497) 
    

 
    

 
   

 
    

 
   

 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax expense   $ 67,731    $ 29,063   $ 2,252    $(44,963)  $ 54,083  
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CBIZ, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited) (Continued)

 
16. New Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“ASU 2014-09”). The objective of ASU 2014-09 is to
establish a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and will supersede most of
the existing revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is that an entity recognizes
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In applying the new guidance, an entity will (1) identify the contract(s) with a customer, (2) identify
the performance obligations in the contract, (3) determine the transaction price, (4) allocate the transaction price to the contract’s performance
obligations, and (5) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. ASU 2014-09 applies to all contracts with customers
except those that are within the scope of other topics in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No.
2015-14, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers: Deferral of the Effective Date” (“ASU 2015-14”). This accounting standard defers the effective
date of ASU 2014-09 for one year. In accordance with the agreed upon delay the new guidance is effective for annual reporting periods (including
interim periods within those periods) beginning after December 15, 2017 for public companies. Early adoption is permitted but not before annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Entities have the option of using either a full retrospective or modified approach to adopt ASU 2015-14.
CBIZ is currently evaluating the new guidance and has not determined the impact this standard may have on its financial statements nor decided upon
the method of adoption.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, “Interest—Imputation of Interest” (“ASU No. 2015-03”), which requires that debt issuance costs
related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent
with debt discounts. The recognition and measurement guidance of debt issuance costs are not affected by the amendments in this update. ASU 2015-
03 will be effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of 2016 and requires the Company to apply the new guidance on a retrospective
basis on adoption. At September 30, 2015, the Company had no unamortized debt issue costs.

 
17. Subsequent Events

The $48.4 million outstanding principal amount of the 2010 Notes became due October 1, 2015. Holders will receive $1,000 in cash for each $1,000
principal amount of 2010 Notes along with any premium of the conversion value over par value. The $71.8 million conversion value of the 2010 Notes
was determined by a cash averaging period that began on October 5, 2015 and ended on October 30, 2015. CBIZ expects to settle all payments in cash
on November 4, 2015 with the funds available under the credit facility.

Beginning October 1, 2015, the common stock equivalents related to the 2010 Notes will have less of an impact on diluted weighted average shares
outstanding due to the maturation of the 2010 Notes. The common stock equivalent impact during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015
was 1.6 million shares and 1.3 million shares, respectively.

CBIZ acquired Pension Resource Group, Inc. (“PRG”), based in Woodstock, GA, effective October 1, 2015. PRG was acquired for approximately $2.0
million aggregate net cash consideration plus future contingent consideration. PRG provides pension administration solutions to clients ranging in size
from 500 to over 60,000 participants. Annualized revenue is estimated to be approximately $4.8 million and will be reported in the Employee Services
practice group.

On October 16, 2015, CBIZ entered into a Second Amendment to the Credit Agreement that governs the credit facility, dated as of July 28, 2014, by
and among the Company and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent and bank, and other participating banks, to incorporate swap obligations
in the Agreement. This amendment had no impact on the terms of the Credit Agreement (other than as described above), the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets, Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to “CBIZ” or the “Company” shall mean CBIZ, Inc., a Delaware
corporation, and its operating subsidiaries.

The following discussion is intended to assist in the understanding of CBIZ’s financial position at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, results of
operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, and cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, and
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and with
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014. This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements and
should also be read in conjunction with the disclosures and information contained in “Forward-Looking Statements” included elsewhere in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q and in “Risk Factors” included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Overview

CBIZ provides professional business services, products and solutions that help its clients grow and succeed by better managing their finances and employees.
These services are provided to businesses of various sizes, as well as individuals, governmental entities and not-for-profit enterprises throughout the United
States and parts of Canada. CBIZ delivers its integrated services through three practice groups: Financial Services, Employee Services, and National
Practices. See Note 15 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a general description of services provided by each practice group.

See the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 for further discussion of CBIZ’s business and strategies, as well as the external
relationships and regulatory factors that currently impact the Company’s operations.

Executive Summary

Revenue

Revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2015 increased $6.8 million, or 3.8%, to $187.1 million from $180.3 million for the same period in 2014.
The increase in revenue was attributable to an increase in same-unit revenue of $5.1 million, or 2.8%, and newly acquired operations, net of divestitures, of
$1.7 million, or 1.0%. Excluding revenue of $1.6 million from the divestiture of a Financial Services business sold in the fourth quarter of 2014, revenue for
the three months ended September 30, 2015 increased $8.4 million, or 4.7%, to $187.1 million from $178.7 million.

Revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 increased $23.5 million, or 4.2%, to $586.0 million from $562.5 million for the same period in 2014.
Same-unit revenue contributed $12.8 million, or 2.3%, and revenue from newly acquired operations, net of divestitures, contributed $10.7 million, or 1.9%.
Excluding revenue of $5.0 million from the divestiture of a Financial Services business sold in the fourth quarter of 2014, revenue for the nine months ended
September 30, 2015 increased $28.5 million, or 5.1%, to $586.0 million from $557.5 million.

Income from continuing operations

Income from continuing operations increased $2.3 million, or 31.0%, to $9.6 million during the three months ended September 30, 2015 compared to $7.3
million during the same period in 2014. Income from continuing operations increased $4.0 million, or 12.5%, to $35.8 million during the nine months ended
September 30, 2015 compared to $31.8 million during the same period in 2014.
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Earnings per diluted share from continuing operations

Earnings per diluted share from continuing operations were $0.18 and $0.14 for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The fully
diluted weighted average share count increased by approximately 3.2 million shares to 54.4 million shares for the three months ended September 30, 2015
from 51.2 million shares during the same period in 2014. The increase of 3.2 million shares in the fully diluted weighted average share count was primarily
due to an increase in shares issued, offset slightly by an increase in share repurchases and a decrease in the common stock equivalents related to the
Company’s 4.875% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes (“2010 Notes”).
 

 
•  During the three months ended June 30, 2015, in two privately negotiated transactions, the Company issued 5.1 million shares of CBIZ common stock

plus cash consideration in exchange for $49.3 million of the Company’s 2010 Notes. During the three months ended September 30, 2014, the Company
issued 1.5 million shares of CBIZ common stock plus cash consideration in exchange for $32.4 million of the Company’s 2010 Notes.

 

 •  The Company repurchased 3.8 million shares of CBIZ common stock during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 compared to 2.2 million shares
of CBIZ common stock during the same period in 2014.

 

 •  The common stock equivalents related to the 2010 Notes decreased 0.1 million shares to 1.6 million shares for the three months ended September 30,
2015 from 1.7 million shares for the same period in 2014.

Excluding the impact of the common stock equivalents related to the 2010 Notes, fully diluted earnings per share from continuing operations would have
been $0.18 and $0.15 for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Earnings per diluted share from continuing operations were $0.68 and $0.62 for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The fully
diluted weighted average share count increased by approximately 0.8 million shares to 52.3 million shares for the nine months ended September 30, 2015
from 51.5 million shares for the same period in 2014 primarily due to the same factors as discussed above except for the common stock equivalents. The
common stock equivalents related to the 2010 Notes decreased 0.7 million shares to 1.3 million shares for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 from
2.0 million shares for the same period in 2014

Excluding the impact of the common stock equivalents related to the 2010 Notes, fully diluted earnings per share from continuing operations would have
been $0.70 and $0.64 for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

2010 Notes

The common stock equivalents are impacted by the par value of the 2010 Notes and the average share price of the CBIZ common stock.
 

 •  The par value of the 2010 Notes was $48.4 million on September 30, 2015 compared to $97.7 million on September 30, 2014 due to the early
retirement of $49.3 million of the Company’s 2010 Notes during the second quarter of 2015.

 

 •  The average share price of the CBIZ common stock was $9.75 in the third quarter of 2015 compared to $8.53 in the second quarter of 2014.
 

 •  The average share price of the CBIZ common stock was $9.29 for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 compared to $8.73 for the nine
months ended September 30, 2014.

The $48.4 million outstanding principal amount of the 2010 Notes became due October 1, 2015. Holders will receive $1,000 in cash for each $1,000 principal
amount of 2010 Notes along with any premium of the conversion value over par value. The $71.8 million conversion value of the 2010 Notes was determined
by a cash averaging period that began on October 5, 2015 and ended on October 30, 2015. CBIZ expects to settle all payments in cash on November 4, 2015
with the funds available under the $400.0 million unsecured credit facility (the “credit facility”).
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Beginning October 1, 2015, the common stock equivalents related to the 2010 Notes will have less of an impact on diluted weighted average shares
outstanding due to the maturation of the 2010 Notes. The common stock equivalent impact during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 was
1.6 million shares and 1.3 million shares, respectively.
 

 
•  Prior to the October 1, 2015 maturity date, CBIZ paid cash of approximately $17.2 million and issued approximately 5.1 million shares valued at

approximately $48.0 million of CBIZ common stock in exchange for $49.3 million of the Company’s 2010 Notes, in two privately negotiated
transactions during the second quarter of 2015.

 

 •  These transactions will result in lower interest expense of approximately $3.2 million on an annualized basis.
 

 
•  A non-operating charge of approximately $0.8 million was recorded in the second quarter of 2015 related to the two privately negotiated

transactions and is included in “Other income (expense), net” in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
for the nine months ended September 30, 2015.

For further discussion regarding debt and financing arrangements, see Note 5 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Non-GAAP earnings per diluted share from continuing operations

Non-GAAP earnings per diluted share from continuing operations were $0.27 and $0.28 for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014,
respectively, and $1.03 and $0.97 for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. CBIZ believes Non-GAAP earnings per diluted
share from continuing operations illustrate the impact of certain non-cash charges and credits to income from continuing operations and is a useful measure
for the Company, its analysts and its stockholders. Non-GAAP earnings per diluted share from continuing operations are a measurement prepared on a basis
other than generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). As such, the Company has included this data and has provided a reconciliation to the nearest
GAAP measurement, “Earnings per diluted share from continuing operations.” Reconciliations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and
2014 are provided in the “Results of Operations – Continuing Operations” section that follows.

Share repurchases

CBIZ believes that repurchasing shares of its common stock under the Company’s Share Repurchase Program is a prudent use of the Company’s financial
resources, and that investing in its shares is an attractive use of capital and an efficient means to provide value to CBIZ shareholders. During the nine months
ended September 30, 2015, CBIZ repurchased approximately 3.8 million shares of its common stock at a total cost of approximately $35.2 million. On
February 11, 2015, CBIZ’s Board of Directors authorized the purchase of up to 5.0 million shares of CBIZ common stock. The repurchase program may be
suspended or discontinued at any time and expires on April 1, 2016. The shares may be purchased in open market, privately negotiated transactions or Rule
10b5-1 trading plan purchases in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) rules. The Company’s management will determine the
timing and amount of the transactions based on its evaluation of market conditions and other factors.

Acquisitions

During the nine months ended September 30, 2015, CBIZ completed one acquisition and purchased five client lists. The five client lists are reported in the
Employee Services practice group.
 

 

•  During the first quarter of 2015, CBIZ acquired substantially all of the assets of Model Consulting, Inc. (“Model”), located in Trevose,
Pennsylvania. Model provides employee benefit consulting services to mid-sized companies in the Philadelphia and Southern New Jersey
markets. Annualized revenue attributable to Model is estimated to be approximately $4.2 million. Operating results attributable to Model are
reported in the Employee Services practice group.

For further discussion regarding acquisitions, see Note 13 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
 

27



Table of Contents

Amendment to credit agreement

On October 16, 2015, CBIZ entered into a Second Amendment to the Credit Agreement that governs the credit facility, dated as of July 28, 2014, by and
among the Company and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent and bank, and other participating banks, to incorporate swap obligations in the
Agreement. This amendment had no impact on the terms of the Credit Agreement (other than as described above), the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets, Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

On April 10, 2015, CBIZ entered into an Amendment to the Credit Agreement that governs the credit facility, dated July 28, 2014, by and among the
Company and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent and bank, and other participating banks, to remove certain events from the definition of Change
of Control. This amendment had no impact on the terms of the Credit Agreement (other than as described above), the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets, Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. For further discussion regarding debt and financing
arrangements, see Note 5 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Results of Operations – Continuing Operations

Revenue

The following tables summarize total revenue for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands except percentages).
 
   Three Months Ended September 30,  

   2015    
% of
Total   2014    

% of
Total   

$
Change   

%
Change 

Same-unit revenue          
Financial Services   $118,354     63.3%  $114,373     63.4%  $ 3,981    3.5% 
Employee Services    57,960     31.0%   56,891     31.6%   1,069    1.9% 
National Practices    7,455     3.9%   7,447     4.1%   8    0.1% 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total same-unit revenue    183,769     98.2%   178,711     99.1%   5,058    2.8% 
Acquired businesses    3,333     1.8%   —       —      3,333   
Divested operations    —       —      1,558     0.9%   (1,558)  

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total revenue   $187,102     100.0%  $180,269     100.0%  $ 6,833    3.8% 
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

 

 
   Nine Months Ended September 30,  

   2015    
% of
Total   2014    

% of
Total   

$
Change   

%
Change 

Same-unit revenue          
Financial Services   $378,048     64.5%  $367,879     65.4%  $10,169    2.8% 
Employee Services    170,092     29.0%   167,479     29.8%   2,613    1.6% 
National Practices    22,185     3.8%   22,150     3.9%   35    0.2% 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total same-unit revenue    570,325     97.3%   557,508     99.1%   12,817    2.3% 
Acquired businesses    15,685     2.7%   —       —      15,685   
Divested operations    —       —      4,953     0.9    (4,953)  

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total revenue   $586,010     100.0%  $562,461     100.0%  $23,549    4.2% 
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

 

Same-unit revenue represents total revenue adjusted to reflect comparable periods of activity for acquisitions and divestitures. For example, for a business
acquired on September 1, 2014, revenue for the month of September would be included in same-unit revenue for both years; revenue for the period January 1,
2015 through August 31, 2015 would be reported as revenue from acquired businesses. A detailed discussion of revenue by practice group is included under
“Operating Practice Groups.”
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Operating expenses
 

   Three Months Ended September 30,  

   2015   2014   
$

Change    
%

Change  
   (In thousands, except percentages)  
Operating expenses   $159,175   $155,233   $ 3,942     2.5% 
Operating expenses % of revenue    85.1%   86.1%   —       (100 bps)  

   Nine Months Ended September 30,  

   2015   2014   
$

Change    
%

Change  
   (In thousands, except percentages)  
Operating expenses   $493,156   $475,488   $17,668     3.7% 
Operating expenses % of revenue    84.2%   84.5%   —       (30 bps)  

Three months ended September 30, 2015 compared to September 30, 2014. The increase in operating expenses in the third quarter of 2015 compared to the
third quarter of 2014 was primarily due to higher expenses related to personnel costs. Personnel costs increased $4.0 million, or 3.3%, primarily due to an
increase in salaries and wages and the related benefits as well as increases in commissions paid. Acquisitions contributed approximately $2.2 million to
personnel costs. The remaining fluctuation consists of other operating expenses of which none are individually significant. The increase in personnel costs is
discussed in further detail under “Operating Practice Groups.”

Operating expenses in the third quarter of 2015 and 2014 include benefits of $3.5 million and $0.6 million, respectively, related to the Company’s deferred
compensation plan. Excluding these items, operating expenses would have been $162.7 million and $155.9 million, or 86.9% and 86.5% of revenue for the
three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Benefits related to the Company’s deferred compensation plan are directly offset by “Other
(expense) income, net” and have no impact on “Income from continuing operations before income tax expense.”

Nine months ended September 30, 2015 compared to September 30, 2014. The increase in operating expenses during the nine months ended September 30,
2015 compared to the same period in 2014 was primarily due to higher expenses related to personnel costs and occupancy costs. Personnel costs increased
$13.7 million, or 3.7%, and are attributable to the same factors as discussed above in the three month period. Acquisitions contributed approximately $9.0
million to personnel costs. Occupancy costs contributed an increase of approximately $3.7 million, or 10.5%, and are attributable to acquisitions and
additional costs related to the relocation of the Kansas City office. The remaining fluctuation consists of other operating expenses of which none are
individually significant. The increase or decrease in personnel costs and occupancy costs by the individual practice groups is discussed in further detail under
“Operating Practice Groups.”

Operating expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 include a benefit and an expense of $2.6 million and $1.7 million, respectively,
related to the Company’s deferred compensation plan. Excluding these items, operating expenses would have been $495.8 million and $473.8 million, or
84.6% and 84.2% of revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Benefits and expenses related to the Company’s deferred
compensation plan are directly offset by “Other (expense) income, net” and have no impact on “Income from continuing operations before income tax
expense.”
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Gross margin
 

   Three Months Ended September 30,  

   2015   2014   
$

Change    
%

Change  
   (In thousands, except percentages)  
Gross margin   $27,927   $25,036   $2,891     11.5% 
Gross margin % of revenue    14.9%   13.9%   —       100 bps  

   Nine Months Ended September 30,  

   2015   2014   
$

Change    
%

Change  
   (In thousands, except percentages)  
Gross margin   $92,854   $86,973   $5,881     6.8% 
Gross margin % of revenue    15.8%   15.5%   —       30 bps  

Three months ended September 30, 2015 compared to September 30, 2014. Gross margin increased $2.9 million, or 11.5%, to $27.9 million for the three
months ended September 30, 2015 from $25.0 million for the same period in 2014 and increased as a percentage of revenue to 14.9% for the three months
ended September 30, 2015 from 13.9% for the same period in 2014. Gross margin includes benefits related to the Company’s deferred compensation plan as
discussed above under “Operating expenses.” Excluding these items, gross margin would have been $24.4 million and $24.4 million, or 13.1% and 13.5%, for
the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The impact on gross margin by the individual practice groups is discussed in further detail
under “Operating Practice Groups.”

Nine months ended September 30, 2015 compared to September 30, 2014. Gross margin increased $5.9 million, or 6.8%, to $92.9 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2015 from $87.0 million for the same period in 2015 and increased as a percentage of revenue to 15.8% for the nine months
ended September 30, 2015 from 15.5% for the same period in 2014. Gross margin includes a benefit and an expense related to the Company’s deferred
compensation plan as discussed above under “Operating expenses.” Excluding these items, gross margin would have been $90.3 million and $88.6 million, or
15.4% and 15.8%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The impact on gross margin by the individual practice groups is
discussed in further detail under “Operating Practice Groups.”

Corporate general and administrative (“G&A”) expenses
 

   Three Months Ended September 30,  

   2015   2014   
$

Change    
%

Change  
   (In thousands, except percentages)  
G&A expenses   $ 8,043   $ 8,889   $ 846     (9.5)% 
G&A expenses % of revenue    4.3%   4.9%   —       (60 bps) 

   Nine Months Ended September 30,  

   2015   2014   
$

Change    
%

Change  
   (In thousands, except percentages)  
G&A expenses   $24,523   $27,393   $(2,870)    (10.5)% 
G&A expenses % of revenue    4.2%   4.9%   —       (70 bps) 
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Three months ended September 30, 2015 compared to September 30, 2014. The decrease in G&A expenses in the third quarter of 2015 compared to the
third quarter of 2014 was primarily due to a decrease in expenses related to personnel costs of $0.8 million which was primarily due to a decrease in incentive
based compensation.

G&A expenses in the third quarter of 2015 and 2014 include benefits of $0.4 million and $0.1 million, respectively, related to the Company’s deferred
compensation plan. Excluding these items, G&A expenses would have been $8.5 million and $9.0 million, or 4.5% and 5.0% of revenue for the three months
ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Benefits related to the Company’s deferred compensation plan are directly offset by “Other (expense)
income, net” and have no impact on “Income from continuing operations before income tax expense.”

Nine months ended September 30, 2015 compared to September 30, 2014. The decrease in G&A expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2015
compared to the same period in 2014 was primarily due to a decrease in professional fees of $1.6 million and personnel costs of $1.2 million. The decrease in
professional fees was primarily attributable to a decrease in legal expenses related to case dismissals and settlements. For further discussion regarding legal
proceedings, see Note 6 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The decrease in personnel cost was attributable to the same factors as
discussed above for the three month period.

G&A expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 include a benefit and an expense of $0.4 million and $0.3 million, respectively,
related to the Company’s deferred compensation plan. Excluding these items, G&A expenses would have been $24.9 million and $27.1 million, or 4.2% and
4.8% of revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Benefits and expenses related to the Company’s deferred
compensation plan are directly offset by “Other (expense) income, net” and have no impact on “Income from continuing operations before income tax
expense.”

Other expense
 

   Three Months Ended September 30,  

   2015    2014    
$

Change    
%

Change 
   (In thousands, except percentages)  
Interest expense   $(1,840)   $ (3,123)   $ 1,283     (41.1)% 
Gain on sale of operations, net   $ 5    $ 17    $ (12)    NM  
Other expense, net   $(1,673)   $ (1,368)   $ (305)    22.3% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total other expense, net   $(3,508)   $ (4,474)   $ 966     (21.6)% 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

   Nine Months Ended September 30,  

   2015    2014    
$

Change    
%

Change 
   (In thousands, except percentages)  
Interest expense   $(7,665)   $(10,133)   $ 2,468     (24.4)% 
Gain on sale of operations, net   $ 106    $ 93    $ 13     NM  
Other income, net   $ 60    $ 4,543    $(4,483)    (98.7)% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total other expense, net   $(7,499)   $ (5,497)   $(2,002)    36.4% 
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Three months ended September 30, 2015 compared to September 30, 2014

Interest expense

Interest expense decreased $1.3 million, or 41.1%, to $1.8 million for the third quarter of 2015 from $3.1 million for the comparable period in 2014. The
decrease in interest expense was primarily due to the early retirement of $49.3 million of the outstanding 2010 Notes during the second quarter of 2015 at an
interest rate of 7.50% with $17.2 million cash from the credit facility at a weighted average interest rate of 2.14%.

The average debt balance outstanding under the 2010 Notes decreased to $47.8 million for the third quarter of 2015 compared to $122.4 million for the third
quarter of 2014. The Company replaced its prior $275.0 million credit facility during the third quarter of 2014 with a new $400.0 million unsecured credit
facility, which expires in July 2019. The average debt balance outstanding under the credit facility increased to $156.2 million for the third quarter of 2015
compared to $102.0 million for the third quarter of 2014. The weighted average interest rate related to the credit facility decreased to 1.82% for the third
quarter of 2015 compared to 2.32% for the same period in 2014. For further discussion regarding debt and financing arrangements, see Note 5 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Other expense, net

Other expense, net increased $0.3 million, or 22.3%, to $1.7 million for the third quarter of 2015 from $1.4 million for the comparable period in 2014
primarily due to losses in the value of the investments held in a rabbi trust related to the deferred compensation plan and adjustments to the fair value of the
Company’s contingent purchase price liability related to prior acquisitions.
 

 

•  The value of investments held in a rabbi trust related to the deferred compensation plan resulted in a loss of $3.9 million during the third quarter
of 2015 compared to a loss of $0.7 million during the same period in 2014. The adjustments to the investments held in a rabbi trust related to the
deferred compensation plan do not impact CBIZ’s net income as they are offset by a corresponding increase or decrease to compensation
expense, which is recorded as operating and G&A expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

 

 •  Adjustments to the fair value of the Company’s contingent purchase price liability related to prior acquisitions resulted in other income of $1.6
million during the third quarter of 2015 compared to other income of $0.6 million during the same period in 2014.

 

 •  During the third quarter of 2014, the Company recorded a non-operating charge of $1.5 million related to the retirement of $32.4 million of the
2010 Notes. No such charge was incurred during the third quarter of 2015.

Nine months ended September 30, 2015 compared to September 30, 2014

Interest expense

Interest expense decreased $2.5 million, or 24.4%, to $7.7 million for the nine months ended 2015 from $10.1 million for the comparable period in 2014. The
decrease in interest expense was primarily due to the same factors as discussed above in the three month period.

The average debt balance outstanding under the 2010 Notes decreased to $75.2 million for nine months ended September 30, 2015 compared to $118.0
million for the same period in 2014. The average debt balance outstanding under the credit facility increased to $144.4 million for the nine months ended
2015 compared to $88.4 million for the same period in 2014. The weighted average interest rate related to the credit facility decreased to 2.04% for the nine
months ended 2015 compared to 2.55% for the same period in 2014.
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Other income, net

Other income, net decreased $4.4 million, or 98.7%, to $0.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 from $4.5 million for the comparable
period in 2014 primarily due to losses in the value of the investments held in a rabbi trust related to the deferred compensation plan and adjustments to the fair
value of the Company’s contingent purchase price liability related to prior acquisitions.
 

 

•  During the nine months ended September 30, 2015, the value of investments held in a rabbi trust related to the deferred compensation plan
resulted in a loss of $3.0 million compared to a gain of $1.9 million during the same period in 2014. The adjustments to the investments held in a
rabbi trust related to the deferred compensation plan do not impact CBIZ’s net income as they are offset by a corresponding increase or decrease
to compensation expense, which is recorded as operating and G&A expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive
Income.

 

 •  Adjustments to the fair value of the Company’s contingent purchase price liability related to prior acquisitions resulted in other income of $3.1
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 compared to other income of $3.6 million during the same period in 2014.

 

 
•  During the nine months ended September 30, 2015, the Company recorded a non-operating charge of $0.8 million related to the retirement of

$49.3 million of the 2010 Notes compared to a non-operating charge of $1.5 million during the same period in 2014 related to the retirement of
$32.4 million of the 2010 Notes.

Income tax expense
 

   Three Months Ended September 30,  

   2015   2014   
$

Change    
%

Change  
   (In thousands, except percentages)  
Income tax expense   $ 6,787   $ 4,353   $2,434     55.9% 
Effective tax rate    41.4%   37.3%   —       415 bps  

   Nine Months Ended September 30,  

   2015   2014   
$

Change    
%

Change  
   (In thousands, except percentages)  
Income tax expense   $25,055   $22,291   $2,764     12.4% 
Effective tax rate    41.2%   41.2%   —       (3) bps  

Three months ended September 30, 2015 compared to September 30, 2014. Income tax expense from continuing operations for the three months ended
September 30, 2015 increased to $6.8 million from $4.4 million for the third quarter of 2014. The effective tax rate for the third quarter of 2015 was 41.4%,
compared to an effective tax rate of 37.3% for the comparable period in 2014. The increase in the effective tax rate primarily relates to a decrease in the
reversal of estimated tax reserves during the third quarter of 2015 compared to the same period in 2014.

Nine months ended September 30, 2015 compared to September 30, 2014. Income tax expense from continuing operations for the nine months ended
September 30, 2015 increased to $25.1 million from $22.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2014. The effective tax rate for the nine months
ended September 30, 2015 was relatively unchanged from the same period in 2014.
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Earnings per share and Non-GAAP earnings per share

The following is a reconciliation of income from continuing operations to Non-GAAP earnings from operations and diluted earnings per share from
continuing operations to Non-GAAP earnings per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.

NON-GAAP EARNINGS AND PER SHARE DATA
Reconciliation of Income from Continuing Operations to Non-GAAP Earnings from Continuing Operations

 
   Three Months Ended September 30,  
   2015    Per Share   2014    Per Share 
   (In thousands, except per share data)  
Income from continuing operations   $ 9,589    $ 0.18    $ 7,320    $ 0.14  
Selected non-cash charges:         

Amortization    3,741     0.07     3,666     0.07  
Depreciation    1,376     0.02     1,376     0.03  
Non-cash interest on convertible notes    306     —       633     0.01  
Stock-based compensation    1,408     0.03     1,825     0.04  
Adjustment to contingent earnouts    (1,550)    (0.03)    (608)    (0.01) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Non-cash charges   $ 5,281    $ 0.09    $ 6,892    $ 0.14  
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Non-GAAP earnings – Continuing operations   $14,870    $ 0.27    $14,212    $ 0.28  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

   Nine Months Ended September 30,  

   2015    
Per

Share    2014    
Per

Share  
   (In thousands, except per share data)  
Income from continuing operations   $35,777    $ 0.68    $31,792    $ 0.62  
Selected non-cash charges:         

Amortization    10,882     0.21     10,679     0.21  
Depreciation    4,286     0.08     3,881     0.08  
Non-cash interest on convertible notes    1,434     0.03     2,133     0.04  
Stock-based compensation    4,319     0.09     4,812     0.09  
Adjustment to contingent earnouts    (3,075)    (0.06)    (3,592)    (0.07) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Non-cash charges   $17,846    $ 0.35    $17,913    $ 0.35  
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Non-GAAP earnings – Continuing operations   $53,623    $ 1.03    $49,705    $ 0.97  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Three months ended September 30, 2015 compared to September 30, 2014. Earnings from continuing operations were $0.18 and $0.14 per diluted share for
the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and Non-GAAP earnings were $0.27 and $0.28 per diluted share for the three months
ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The Company believes Non-GAAP earnings and Non-GAAP earnings per diluted share illustrate the
impact of certain non-cash charges and credits to income from continuing operations and are a useful performance measure for the Company, its analysts and
its stockholders. Management uses these performance measures to evaluate CBIZ’s business, including ongoing performance and the allocation of resources.
Non-GAAP earnings and Non-GAAP earnings per diluted share are provided in addition to the presentation of GAAP measures and should not be regarded as
a replacement or alternative of performance under GAAP.
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Nine months ended September 30, 2015 compared to September 30, 2014. Earnings from continuing operations were $0.68 and $0.62 per diluted share for
the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and Non-GAAP earnings were $1.03 and $0.97 per diluted share for the nine months
ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The Company believes Non-GAAP earnings and Non-GAAP earnings per diluted share illustrate the
impact of certain non-cash charges and credits to income from continuing operations and are a useful performance measure for the Company, its analysts and
its stockholders. Management uses these performance measures to evaluate CBIZ’s business, including ongoing performance and the allocation of resources.
Non-GAAP earnings and Non-GAAP earnings per diluted share are provided in addition to the presentation of GAAP measures and should not be regarded as
a replacement or alternative of performance under GAAP.

Operating Practice Groups

CBIZ delivers its integrated services through three practice groups: Financial Services, Employee Services and National Practices. A description of these
groups’ operating results and factors affecting their businesses is provided below.

Financial Services
 

   Three Months Ended September 30,  

   2015   2014   
$

Change    
%

Change 
   (In thousands, except percentages)  
Revenue   

Same-unit   $118,354   $114,373   $ 3,981     3.5% 
Acquired businesses    —      —      —      
Divested businesses    —      1,558    (1,558)   

    
 

   
 

   
 

  

Total revenue   $118,354   $115,931   $ 2,423     2.1% 
Operating expenses    101,979    98,987    2,992     3.0% 

    
 

   
 

   
 

  

Gross margin   $ 16,375   $ 16,944   $ (569)    (3.4)% 
    

 

   

 

   

 

  

Gross margin percent    13.8%   14.6%    
    

 

   

 

   

   Nine Months Ended September 30,  

   2015   2014   
$

Change    
%

Change 
   (In thousands, except percentages)  
Revenue   

Same-unit   $378,048   $367,879   $10,169     2.8% 
Acquired businesses    809    —      809    
Divested businesses    —      4,953    (4,953)   

    
 

   
 

   
 

  

Total revenue   $378,857   $372,832   $ 6,025     1.6% 
Operating expenses    312,942    305,333    7,609     2.5% 

    
 

   
 

   
 

  

Gross margin   $ 65,915   $ 67,499   $ (1,584)    (2.3)% 
    

 

   

 

   

 

  

Gross margin percent    17.4%   18.1%    
    

 

   

 

   

Three months ended September 30, 2015 compared to September 30, 2014

Revenue

The increase in same-unit revenue was primarily the result of stronger performance in the units that provide national services, which increased approximately
$3.7 million, or 10.9%. This was primarily due to increased project work and growth in the federal and state governmental healthcare compliance business
and in CBIZ’s risk and advisory practice. With respect to the accounting units, same-unit revenue increased by approximately $0.5 million, or 0.6%, due to an
increase in billable hours resulting from work that was extended from the first and second quarters to the third quarter.
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The revenue from divestitures for the three months ended September 30, 2014 was from a Financial Services business located in Miami which was sold on
November 1, 2014.

CBIZ provides a range of services to affiliated CPA firms under joint referral and administrative service agreements (“ASAs”). Fees earned by CBIZ under
the ASAs are recorded as revenue in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and were approximately $31.4 million and $31.0
million for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Operating expenses

The largest components of operating expenses for the Financial Services practice group are personnel costs, occupancy costs, and travel and related costs,
which represent 88.7% and 89.4% of total operating expenses and 76.4% and 76.3% of total revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and
2014, respectively.
 

 
•  Personnel costs were $80.5 million and $79.0 million, or 68.0% and 68.2% of revenue, for the third quarter of 2015 and 2014, respectively. The

increase of $1.5 million is a result of staff compensation increases, benefit cost increases and increased usage of outside contractors, partially
offset by a decrease in incentive compensation.

 

 
•  Occupancy costs were $6.7 million and $5.7 million, or 5.6% and 4.9% of revenue, for the third quarter of 2015 and 2014, respectively. The

increase relates to the incremental cost incurred in Tampa as a result of the acquisition of Lewis, Birch and Ricardo, LLC (“LBR”) and additional
costs related to the relocation of the Kansas City office.

 

 
•  Travel and related costs were $3.3 million and $3.7 million, or 2.8% and 3.2% of revenue, for the third quarter of 2015 and 2014, respectively.

The decrease in the third quarter is due to a reduction in training and conferences costs as well as a decrease in costs incurred in client related
field work.

Nine months ended September 30, 2015 compared to September 30, 2014

Revenue

The increase in same-unit revenue was primarily the result of stronger performance in the units that provide national services, which increased approximately
$10.2 million, or 9.9%, which was attributable to the same factors as discussed above for the three month period. With respect to the accounting units, same-
unit revenue was flat.

The growth in revenue from acquisitions was provided by LBR located in Tampa, Florida, which was acquired in the first quarter of 2014. The revenue from
divestitures was from a Financial Services business located in Miami which was sold on November 1, 2014.

CBIZ provides a range of services to affiliated CPA firms under ASAs. Fees earned by CBIZ under the ASAs are recorded as revenue in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and were approximately $107.7 million and $108.5 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2015 and 2014, respectively.

Operating expenses

The largest components of operating expenses for the Financial Services practice group are personnel costs, occupancy costs, and travel and related costs,
which represent 89.3% and 89.8% of operating expenses and 73.8% and 73.5% of total revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014,
respectively.
 

 •  Personnel costs were $248.7 million and $244.9 million, or 65.6% and 65.7% of revenue, for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and
2014, respectively. The $3.8 million increase is attributable to the same factors as discussed above for the three month period.
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 •  Occupancy costs were $20.2 million and $18.2 million, or 5.3% and 4.9% of revenue, for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. The increase relates to the same factors as discussed above for the three month period.

 

 •  Travel and related costs were $10.7 million and $11.1 million, or 2.8% and 3.0% of revenue, for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and
2014, respectively. The decrease is primarily due to a reduction in training and conference costs.

Employee Services
 

   Three Months Ended September 30,  

   2015   2014   
$

Change    
%

Change 
   (In thousands, except percentages)  
Revenue   

Same-unit   $ 57,960   $ 56,891   $ 1,069     1.9% 
Acquired businesses    3,333    —      3,333    

    
 

   
 

   
 

  

Total revenue   $ 61,293   $ 56,891   $ 4,402    
Operating expenses    51,043    47,194    3,849     8.2% 

    
 

   
 

   
 

  

Gross margin   $ 10,250   $ 9,697   $ 553     5.7% 
    

 

   

 

   

 

  

Gross margin percent    16.7%   17.0%    
    

 

   

 

   

   Nine Months Ended September 30,  

   2015   2014   
$

Change    
%

Change 
   (In thousands, except percentages)  
Revenue   

Same-unit   $170,092   $167,479   $ 2,613     1.6% 
Acquired businesses    14,876    —      14,876    

    
 

   
 

   
 

  

Total revenue   $184,968   $167,479   $17,489    
Operating expenses    153,813    138,865    14,948     10.8% 

    
 

   
 

   
 

  

Gross margin   $ 31,155   $ 28,614   $ 2,541     8.9% 
    

 

   

 

   

 

  

Gross margin percent    16.8%   17.1%    
    

 

   

 

   

Three months ended September 30, 2015 compared to September 30, 2014

Revenue

The increase in same-unit revenue was primarily attributable to increases in the Company’s property and casualty, payroll, and human capital services groups,
offset by a decrease in the life insurance business.
 

 •  Property and casualty revenues increased $0.6 million, or 5.3%, primarily due to a strong performance within the specialty program businesses
and an increase in carrier bonus payments.

 

 •  Payroll business revenues increased $0.3 million, or 3.9%, due to higher pricing coupled with an increase in processing volume for payroll and
related services.

 

 •  Human capital services group revenues increased $0.6 million, or 26.8%, primarily due to an increase in billings related to consulting projects
and executive placements.

 

 •  These increases were partially offset by a decline in the life insurance business of $0.4 million, or 32.1%, due to the inconsistent nature in the
demand for life insurance plans.
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The growth in revenue from acquisitions was provided by:
 

 •  Sattler Insurance Agency, a property and casualty firm located in Lewiston, Idaho, that was acquired effective September 1, 2014;
 

 •  Weekes & Callaway, Inc., primarily a property and casualty firm located in Delray Beach, Florida, that was acquired effective November 1, 2014
and

 

 •  Model, an employee benefits broker located in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, that was acquired effective March 1, 2015.

Operating expenses

The largest components of operating expenses for the Employee Services group are personnel costs, including commissions paid to third party brokers, and
occupancy costs, representing 67.7% and 67.3% of revenue for the third quarter of 2015 and 2014, respectively.
 

 
•  Excluding costs related to the acquired businesses of $2.2 million, personnel costs increased approximately $0.4 million, primarily due to

commissions paid to producers relating to the increased revenue in the property and casualty, payroll and human capital services businesses as
well as investments in the employee benefits business.

 

 •  Occupancy costs were $3.3 million, or 5.3% of revenue and $2.6 million, or 4.6% of revenue, for the third quarter of 2015 and 2014, respectively.
The increase in occupancy costs was primarily due to business acquisitions and additional costs related to the relocation of the Kansas City office.

Nine months ended September 30, 2015 compared to September 30, 2014

Revenue

The increase in same-unit revenue was primarily attributable to increases in the Company’s property and casualty, payroll, and human capital services groups,
offset by a decrease in the life insurance business and in the retirement plan services group.
 

 •  Property and casualty revenues increased $2.6 million, or 7.9%; payroll business revenues increased $0.8 million, or 3.4%, human capital
services group revenues increased $1.0 million, or 16.4%, all due to the same factors as discussed above in the three month period.

 

 
•  These increases were partially offset by a decline in the life insurance business of $1.5 million, or 35.5%, due to the inconsistent nature in the

demand for life insurance plans and a decrease in retirement consulting revenues of $0.3 million or 1.3%, due to lower actuarial fee based
revenues.

The growth in revenue from acquisitions was provided by the businesses as discussed above in the three month period, in addition to the acquisition of the
Tegrit Group, LLC, a retirement plan services business located in Akron, Ohio, that was acquired effective June 1, 2014.

Operating expenses

The largest components of operating expenses for the Employee Services group are personnel costs, including commissions paid to third party brokers, and
occupancy costs, representing 67.7% and 67.7% of revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
 

 •  Excluding costs related to the acquired businesses of $9.0 million, personnel costs increased approximately $1.4 million, primarily due to the
same factors as discussed above in the three month period.

 

 •  Occupancy costs increased to $9.9 million, or 5.3% of revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 from $8.4 million, or 5.0% of
revenue, for the same period in 2014 due to the same factors as discussed above in the three month period.
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National Practices
 

   Three Months Ended September 30,  

   2015   2014   
$

Change   
%

Change 
   (In thousands, except percentages)  
Same-unit revenue   $ 7,455   $ 7,447   $ 8     0.1% 
Operating expenses    6,644    6,585    59     0.9% 

    
 

   
 

   
 

  

Gross margin   $ 811    862    (51)    (5.9)% 
    

 

   

 

   

 

  

Gross margin percent    10.9%  $ 11.6%    
    

 

   

 

   

   Nine Months Ended September 30,  

   2015   2014   
$

Change   
%

Change 
   (In thousands, except percentages)  
Same-unit revenue   $22,185   $22,150   $ 35     0.2% 
Operating expenses    19,894    19,902    (8)    —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

  

Gross margin   $ 2,291    2,248    43     1.9% 
    

 

   

 

   

 

  

Gross margin percent    10.3%  $ 10.1%  $      
    

 

   

 

   

Results for National Practices remained flat for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.

Financial Condition

Total assets were $952.0 million at September 30, 2015, a decrease of $39.2 million versus December 31, 2014. Current assets of $336.2 million exceeded
current liabilities of $219.3 million by $116.9 million at September 30, 2015.

Cash and cash equivalents increased by $0.8 million to $1.8 million at September 30, 2015 from December 31, 2014. Restricted cash was $25.6 million at
September 30, 2015, a decrease of $2.7 million from December 31, 2014. Restricted cash represents those funds held in connection with CBIZ’s Financial
Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) regulated business and funds held in connection with the pass through of insurance premiums to various carriers.
Cash and restricted cash fluctuate during the year based on the timing of cash receipts and related payments.

Accounts receivable, net, were $175.8 million at September 30, 2015, an increase of $32.8 million from December 31, 2014, and days sales outstanding
(“DSO”) from continuing operations was 85 days, 70 days and 86 days at September 30, 2015, December 31, 2014 and September 30, 2014, respectively.
DSO represents accounts receivable, net and unbilled revenue (net of realization adjustments) at the end of the period, divided by trailing twelve month daily
revenue. CBIZ provides DSO data because such data is commonly used as a performance measure by analysts and investors and as a measure of the
Company’s ability to collect on receivables in a timely manner.

Other current assets were $13.4 million and $15.3 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. Other current assets are primarily
comprised of prepaid assets. Balances may fluctuate during the year based upon the timing of cash payments and amortization of prepaid expenses.
 

39



Table of Contents

Funds held for clients (current and non-current) and the corresponding client fund obligations relate to CBIZ’s payroll services business. The balances in these
accounts fluctuate with the timing of cash receipts and the related cash payments. Client fund obligations can differ from funds held for clients due to changes
in the market values of the underlying investments. The nature of these accounts is further described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements
included in CBIZ’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Property and equipment, net, increased by $1.9 million to $20.4 million at September 30, 2015 from $18.5 million at December 31, 2014. The increase is the
result of additions of $6.2 million, partially offset by depreciation of $4.3 million. The majority of the additions were in connection with an office move in our
Kansas City market that involved approximately 100,000 square feet of office space and approximately 450 employees. CBIZ’s property and equipment is
primarily comprised of software, hardware, furniture and leasehold improvements.

Goodwill and other intangible assets, net, increased by $1.7 million at September 30, 2015 from December 31, 2014. This increase is comprised of net
additions to goodwill of $6.1 million and additions to intangible assets of $6.5 million resulting from the acquisition, offset by $10.9 million of amortization.

Assets of the deferred compensation plan represent participant deferral accounts and are directly offset by deferred compensation plan obligations. Assets of
the deferred compensation plan were $61.1 million and $60.3 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. The increase in assets of
the deferred compensation plan of $0.8 million consisted of net participant contributions of $3.7 million and a decrease in the fair value of the investments of
$2.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015. The plan is described in further detail in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2014.

The accounts payable balances of $35.1 million and $36.8 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, reflect amounts due to
suppliers and vendors. Balances fluctuate during the year based on the timing of cash payments. Accrued personnel costs were $36.5 million and $39.9
million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, and represent amounts due for payroll, payroll taxes, employee benefits and incentive
compensation. Balances fluctuate during the year based on the timing of payments and adjustments to the estimate of incentive compensation costs.

Notes payable – current decreased by $0.8 million from December 31, 2014 as a result of guaranteed purchase price payments during the nine months ended
September 30, 2015.

Contingent purchase price liabilities (current and non-current) relate to performance-based contingent purchase price liabilities that result from business
acquisitions. Contingent purchase price liabilities (current and non-current) decreased by $8.6 million at September 30, 2015 from December 31, 2014 due to
settlements of $9.8 million and adjustments of $3.0 million to the fair value of the contingency purchase price liabilities. These decreases were partially offset
by an increase of $4.2 million from the current year business acquisition.

Other liabilities (current and non-current) decreased by $0.7 million to $21.0 million at September 30, 2015 from $21.7 million at December 31, 2014. The
decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease in various accruals of which none are individually significant.

CBIZ’s 2006 Notes and 2010 Notes are carried at face value less unamortized discount. The $47.5 million decrease in the aggregate carrying value of the
2006 Notes and 2010 Notes at September 30, 2015 versus December 31, 2014 represents the retirement of $48.4 million par value of the 2010 Notes offset by
the write-off of $0.9 million of unamortized discount related to the repurchase of the 2010 Notes. The 2006 Notes and 2010 Notes are further discussed in
Note 5 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Bank debt amounts due on CBIZ’s credit facility increased $43.6 million to $151.0 million at September 30, 2015 from $107.4 million at December 31, 2014.
This increase was primarily attributable to additional borrowings for use in convertible note repurchases.
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Income taxes payable – current was $9.1 million at September 30, 2015 and $2.4 million at December 31, 2014 and primarily represents timing differences
between current income tax expense and related tax payments. Income taxes payable – non-current at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 was $4.5
million and $4.2 million, respectively, and represents the accrual for uncertain tax positions.

Stockholders’ equity increased by $45.8 million to $445.6 million at September 30, 2015 from $399.8 million at December 31, 2014. The increase was
primarily attributable to:
 

 •  Net income of $36.0 million,
 

 •  CBIZ stock award programs which contributed $11.4 million,
 

 •  Issuance of $2.0 million in CBIZ common stock related to business acquisitions and contingent payments related to prior acquisitions,
 

 •  Additional paid-in capital activity of $32.9 million related to the early retirement of a portion of the 2010 Notes during the second quarter of
2015.

 

 
•  These increases were partially offset by $36.5 million related to the repurchase of 3.9 million shares of CBIZ common stock, which includes

Share Repurchase Plan activity of approximately 3.8 million shares repurchased at a total cost of approximately $35.2. The remaining activity is
related to the settlement of restricted stock transactions.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

CBIZ’s principal source of net operating cash is derived from the collection of fees and commissions for professional services and products rendered to its
clients. CBIZ supplements net operating cash with the credit facility and 2010 Notes.

Under the credit facility, CBIZ is required to meet certain financial covenants with respect to (i) total leverage ratio and (ii) a minimum fixed charge coverage
ratio. CBIZ was in compliance with its covenants as of September 30, 2015. Under its credit facility, the Company had $151.0 million outstanding and
approximately $144.0 million available, net of outstanding letters of credit and performance guarantees of $3.2 million, at September 30, 2015.

The $48.4 million outstanding principal amount of the 2010 Notes became due October 1, 2015. Holders will receive $1,000 in cash for each $1,000 principal
amount of 2010 Notes along with any premium of the conversion value over par value. The $71.8 million conversion value of the 2010 Notes was determined
by a cash averaging period that began on October 5, 2015 and ended on October 30, 2015. CBIZ expects to settle all payments in cash on November 4, 2015
with the funds available under the $400.0 million credit facility.

Management believes that cash generated from operations, combined with the available funds from the credit facility, provides CBIZ the financial resources
needed to meet business requirements for the foreseeable future, including capital expenditures, working capital requirements, strategic acquisitions and share
repurchases.

In addition to the debt instruments previously mentioned, CBIZ may obtain, at a future date, additional funding by offering equity securities or debt through
public or private markets. CBIZ’s ability to service its debt and to fund strategic initiatives will depend upon its ability to generate cash in the future.
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Sources and Uses of Cash

The following table summarizes CBIZ’s cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and
2014 (in thousands):
 

   
NINE MONTHS ENDED

SEPTEMBER 30,  
   2015    2014  
Net cash provided by operating activities - continuing operations    26,193     24,224  
Net cash used in operating activities - discontinued operations    (417)    (1,404) 

    
 

    
 

Net cash provided by operating activities    25,776     22,820  
Net cash provided by investing activities - continuing operations    57,527     18,924  
Net cash provided by investing activities - discontinued operations    2,694     —    

    
 

    
 

Net cash provided by investing activities    60,221     18,924  
Net cash used in financing activities    (85,136)    (42,118) 

    
 

    
 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    861     (374) 
    

 
    

 

Cash and cash equivalents increased by $0.8 million from $1.0 million at December 31, 2014, to $1.8 million at September 30, 2015.

Operating Activities

Cash flows from operating activities represent net income adjusted for certain non-cash items and changes in assets and liabilities. CBIZ experiences a net use
of cash from operations during the first quarter of its fiscal year, as accounts receivable balances grow in response to the seasonal increase in first quarter
revenue generated by the Financial Services practice group (primarily for accounting and tax services). This net use of cash is followed by strong operating
cash flow during the second and third quarters, as a significant amount of revenue generated by the Financial Services practice group during the first four
months of the year are billed and collected in subsequent quarters.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $25.8 million and $22.8 million, respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014. This
$3.0 million net increase in cash provided by operating activities was primarily due to a $1.5 million net decrease in working capital used and a $1.0 million
net decrease in cash used in discontinued operations compared to the same period in 2014. The $4.9 million increase in net income was offset by a $4.5
million in non-cash adjustments to net income compared to the same period in 2014.
 

 

•  The $1.5 million net decrease in working capital used compared to the same period in 2014 resulted primarily from a $5.4 million
increase in cash provided by restricted cash. Restricted cash represents those funds held in connection with CBIZ’s FINRA regulated
business and funds held in connection with the pass through of insurance premiums to various carriers. Restricted cash can fluctuate
during the year based on the timing of cash receipts and related payments. Offsetting this increase was $4.1 million related to lower
accrued personnel costs.

 

 •  The $4.5 million net increase in non-cash adjustments to net income compared to the same period in 2014 primarily consisted of deferred
income taxes, amortization of the discount on convertible notes and deferred financing fees and gains from discontinued operations.

Investing Activities

CBIZ’s investing activities generally consist of payments for business acquisitions and client lists, purchases of capital equipment, net activity related to funds
held for clients and proceeds received from sales of divestitures and discontinued operations. Capital expenditures consisted of investments in technology,
leasehold improvements and purchases of furniture and equipment.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $60.2 million and $18.9 million, respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.
 

 •  This $41.3 million increase was primarily attributable to a $23.4 million net decrease in cash used for business acquisitions compared to
the same period in 2014.
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 •  Net activity related to funds held for clients increased by $15.1 million to $76.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015
from $61.4 million for the same period in 2014.

 

 •  Cash provided by discontinued operations increased by $2.7 million compared to the same period in 2014.

Financing Activities

CBIZ’s financing cash flows typically consist of net borrowing and payment activity from the credit facility, payments on contingent consideration on
businesses acquisitions, the issuance and repayment of debt instruments, repurchases of CBIZ common stock, net change in client fund obligations and
proceeds from the exercise of stock options.

Net cash used in financing activities was $85.1 million and $42.1 million, respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.
 

 •  This $43.0 million increase in net cash used in financing activities was primarily due to a $20.3 million net increase in client fund
obligations as a result of timing of cash receipts and related payments compared to the same period in 2014;

 

 •  $16.0 million increase in cash used to acquire treasury stock and a $5.7 million increase in payments on contingent consideration of
acquisitions compared to the same period in 2014.

Obligations and Commitments

CBIZ’s aggregate amount of future obligations at September 30, 2015 for the next five years and thereafter is set forth below (in thousands):
 
   Total    2015(1)    2016    2017    2018    2019    Thereafter 
Convertible notes (2)   $ 49,123    $ —      $ —      $ —      $ —      $ 49,123    $ —    
Interest on convertible notes    16     6     10     —       —       —       —    
Credit facility (3)    151,000     —       —       —       —       151,000     —    
Income taxes payable (4)    9,119     9,119     —       —       —       —       —    
Contingent purchase price liabilities (5)    24,778     7,673     10,820     5,252     1,033     —       —    
Restructuring lease obligations (6)    2,417     323     1,135     451     467     41     —    
Non-cancelable operating lease obligations (6)    166,651     8,614     31,360     25,026     20,840     16,932     63,879  
Letters of credit in lieu of cash security deposits    2,265     —       834     —       1,386     45     —    
Performance guarantees for non-consolidated affiliates    934     —       934     —       —       —       —    
License bonds and other letters of credit    1,958     149     1,658     140     1     —       10  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $408,261    $25,884    $46,751    $30,869    $23,727    $217,141    $ 63,889  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1) Represents contractual obligations from October 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015.
(2) Represents $48.4 million par value of 2010 Notes which matured on October 1, 2015, and $750 thousand par value of 2006 Notes which matures on

June 1, 2026. The 2006 Notes may be putable by the holders of such notes on June 1, 2016 and can be redeemed by the Company at any time. At
September 30, 2015, the 2010 Notes and 2006 Notes were classified as a non-current liability due to management’s intention to retire the 2010 and
2006 Notes during the year ended December 31, 2015 with the amounts available under the credit facility.

(3) For the year ended December 31, 2014, CBIZ entered into a new credit facility agreement which extended the maturity date to 2019. Interest on the
credit facility is not included as the amount is not determinable due to the revolving nature of the credit facility and the variability of the related interest
rate.

(4) Does not reflect $4.8 million of unrecognized tax benefits, which the Company has accrued for uncertain tax positions, as CBIZ is unable to determine
a reasonably reliable estimate of the timing of the future payments.

(5) Represents contingent earnout liability that is expected to be paid over the next four years resulting from business acquisitions.
(6) Excludes cash expected to be received under subleases.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

CBIZ maintains administrative service agreements with independent CPA firms (as described more fully in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2014), which qualify as variable interest entities. The accompanying consolidated financial statements do not reflect the operations or
accounts of variable interest entities as the impact is not material to the financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows of CBIZ.

CBIZ provides guarantees of performance obligations for a CPA firm with which CBIZ maintains an administrative service agreement. Potential obligations
under the guarantees totaled $0.9 million at September 30, 2015 and $1.9 million at December 31, 2014. CBIZ has recognized a liability for the fair value of
the obligations undertaken in issuing these guarantees. The liability is recorded as other current liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
CBIZ does not expect it will be required to make payments under these guarantees.

CBIZ provides letters of credit to landlords (lessors) of its leased premises in lieu of cash security deposits, which totaled $2.3 million at September 30, 2015
and December 31, 2014. In addition, CBIZ provides license bonds to various state agencies to meet certain licensing requirements. The amount of license
bonds outstanding at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 totaled $2.0 million and $1.9 million, respectively.

CBIZ has various agreements under which it may be obligated to indemnify the other party with respect to certain matters. Generally, these indemnification
clauses are included in contracts arising in the normal course of business under which the Company customarily agrees to hold the other party harmless
against losses arising from a breach of representations, warranties, covenants or agreements, related to matters such as title to assets sold and certain tax
matters. Payment by CBIZ under such indemnification clauses is generally conditioned upon the other party making a claim. Such claims are typically subject
to challenge by CBIZ and to dispute resolution procedures specified in the particular contract. Further, CBIZ’s obligations under these agreements may be
limited in terms of time and/or amount and, in some instances, CBIZ may have recourse against third parties for certain payments made by CBIZ. It is not
possible to predict the maximum potential amount of future payments under these indemnification agreements due to the conditional nature of CBIZ’s
obligations and the unique facts of each particular agreement. Historically, CBIZ has not made any payments under these agreements that have been material
individually or in the aggregate. As of September 30, 2015, CBIZ was not aware of any material obligations arising under indemnification agreements that
would require payment.

Critical Accounting Policies

The Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) defines critical accounting policies as those that are most important to the portrayal of a company’s
financial condition and results and that require management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates
about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. There have been no material changes to CBIZ’s critical accounting policies from the information
provided in Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” under the heading Critical
Accounting Policies in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.

New Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 16 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements entitled “Recent Accounting Pronouncements” for a discussion of recently issued
accounting pronouncements.
 

44



Table of Contents

Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements other than statements of
historical fact included in this Quarterly Report, including without limitation, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” regarding CBIZ’s financial position, business strategy and plans and objectives for future performance are forward-looking statements. You can
identify these statements by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. Forward-looking statements are commonly identified by the
use of such terms and phrases as “intends,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “projects,” “anticipates,” “foreseeable future,” “seeks,” and words or phrases
of similar import in connection with any discussion of future operating or financial performance. In particular, these include statements relating to future
actions, future performance or results of current and anticipated services, sales efforts, expenses, and financial results. From time to time, the Company also
may provide oral or written forward-looking statements in other materials the Company releases to the public. Any or all of the Company’s forward-looking
statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in any other public statements that the Company makes, are subject to certain risks and uncertainties
that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected. Such forward-looking statements can be affected by inaccurate assumptions the
Company might make or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties. Should one or more of these risks or assumptions materialize, or should the
underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those anticipated, estimated or projected.

Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to:
 

 •  CBIZ’s ability to adequately manage its growth;
 

 •  CBIZ’s dependence on the services of its CEO and other key employees;
 

 •  competitive pricing pressures;
 

 •  general business and economic conditions;
 

 •  changes in governmental regulation and tax laws affecting its operations;
 

 •  reversal or decline in the current trend of outsourcing business services;
 

 •  revenue seasonality or fluctuations in and collectability of receivables;
 

 •  liability for errors and omissions of the Company’s businesses;
 

 •  regulatory investigations and future regulatory activity (including without limitation inquiries into compensation arrangements within the
insurance brokerage industry);

 

 •  reliance on information processing systems and availability of software licenses; and
 

 •  volatility in our stock price.

Consequently, no forward-looking statement can be guaranteed. A more detailed description of risk factors may be found in CBIZ’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014. Except as required by the federal securities laws, CBIZ undertakes no obligation to publicly update forward-
looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. You are advised, however, to consult any further disclosures the
Company makes on related subjects in its filings with the SEC, such as quarterly, periodic and annual reports.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

CBIZ’s floating rate debt under its credit facility exposes the Company to interest rate risk. Interest rate risk results when the maturity or repricing intervals of
interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities are different. A change in the Federal Funds Rate, or the reference rate set by Bank of America, N.A.,
would affect the rate at which CBIZ could borrow funds under its credit facility. CBIZ’s balance outstanding under its credit facility at September 30, 2015
was $151.0 million. If market rates were to increase or decrease 100 basis points from the levels at September 30, 2015, interest expense would increase or
decrease approximately $1.5 million annually.

CBIZ does not engage in trading market risk sensitive instruments. CBIZ periodically uses interest rate swaps to manage interest rate risk exposure. The
interest rate swaps effectively modify the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk, primarily through converting portions of its floating rate debt under the
credit facility to a fixed rate basis. These agreements involve the receipt or payment of floating rate amounts in exchange for fixed rate interest payments over
the life of the agreements without an exchange of the underlying principal amounts. Management will continue to evaluate the potential use of interest rate
swaps as it deems appropriate under certain operating and market conditions. CBIZ does not enter into derivative instruments for trading or speculative
purposes.

In connection with CBIZ’s payroll business, funds held for clients are segregated and invested in short-term investments, such as corporate and municipal
bonds. In accordance with the Company’s investment policy, all investments carry an investment grade rating at the time of the initial investment. At each
respective balance sheet date, these investments are adjusted to fair value with fair value adjustments being recorded to other comprehensive income or loss
and reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the respective period. If an adjustment is deemed to be other-than-
temporarily impaired due to credit loss, then the adjustment is recorded to “Other income (expense), net” in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income. See Notes 7 and 8 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further discussion regarding these investments and the
related fair value assessments.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (“Disclosure Controls”) as of the end of the period covered
by this report. This evaluation (“Controls Evaluation”) was done with the participation of CBIZ’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief
Financial Officer (“CFO”). Disclosure Controls are controls and other procedures of an issuer that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by the Company in the reports that CBIZ files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure Controls include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by CBIZ in the reports that it files under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including the CEO and
CFO as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Management, including the Company’s CEO and CFO, does not expect that its Disclosure Controls or its internal control over financial reporting (“Internal
Controls”) will prevent all error and all fraud. Although CBIZ’s Disclosure Controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their
objective, a control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the objectives of a
control system are met. Further, any control system reflects limitations on resources, and the benefits of a control system must be considered relative to its
costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances
of fraud, if any, within CBIZ have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that
breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of
two or more people, or by management override of a control. A design of a control system is also based upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of
future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the
inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and may not be detected.

Conclusions

The Company’s Disclosure Controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and, based upon the Controls Evaluation, the
Company’s CEO and CFO have concluded that as of the end of the period covered by this report, CBIZ’s Disclosure Controls were effective at that
reasonable assurance level.

(b) Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in the Company’s Internal Controls that occurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2015 that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, CBIZ’s Internal Controls.

PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Information regarding certain legal proceedings in which CBIZ is involved is incorporated by reference from Note 6 – Commitments and Contingencies,
Notes to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I, Item I of this Form 10-Q.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information set forth in this Quarterly Report, you should carefully consider the factors discussed under “Risk Factors” in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 as filed with the SEC. These risks could materially and adversely affect the
business, financial condition and results of operations CBIZ.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

(c) Issuer purchases of equity securities

Periodically, CBIZ’s Board of Directors authorizes a Share Repurchase Plan, which allows the Company to purchase shares of its common stock in the open
market or in a privately negotiated transaction according to SEC rules. On February 11, 2015, CBIZ’s Board of Directors authorized a Share Repurchase Plan
that authorized the purchase of up to 5.0 million shares of CBIZ common stock to be obtained in open market, privately negotiated transactions, or Rule
10b5-1 trading plan purchases. The Share Repurchase Plan was effective beginning April 1, 2015 and expires one year from the effective date. The Share
Repurchase Plan does not obligate CBIZ to acquire any specific number of shares and may be suspended at any time.
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Shares repurchased during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 (reported on a trade-date basis) are summarized in the table below (in thousands,
except per share data).
 

   Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities  

Third Quarter Purchases (1)   

Total
Number of

Shares
Purchased

(2)    

Average
Price Paid

Per
Share

(3)    

Total Number of
Shares

Purchased as
Part of Publicly
Announced Plan

(2)    

Maximum
Number of

Shares That
May Yet Be
Purchased

Under the Plan
(4)  

July 1 – July 31, 2015    630    $ 9.68     630     2,929  
August 1 – August 30, 2015    1,072    $ 9.65     1,072     1,857  
September 1 – September 30, 2015    159    $ 9.69     159     1,698  

    
 

      
 

  

Third quarter purchases    1,861    $ 9.66     1,861    
    

 

      

 

  

 
(1) CBIZ has utilized, and may utilize in the future, a Rule 10b5-1 trading plan to allow for repurchases by the Company during periods when it would not

normally be active in the trading market due to regulatory restrictions. Under the Rule 10b5-1 trading plan, CBIZ was able to repurchase shares below a
pre-determined price per share. Additionally, the maximum number of shares that may be purchased by the Company each day is governed by Rule
10b-18 under the Exchange Act.

(2) Includes shares withheld from employees to satisfy certain tax obligations due in connection with restricted stock granted under the 2002 Amended and
Restated CBIZ, Inc. 2014 Stock Incentive Plan.

(3) Average price paid per share includes fees and commissions.
(4) Effective April 1, 2015, the shares available to be repurchased was reset to 5.0 million pursuant to the Share Repurchase Plan authorized on

February 11, 2015, which will expire one year from the effective date. Amounts in this column represent the shares available to be repurchased,
pursuant to the Share Repurchase Plan.

According to the terms of CBIZ’s new credit facility, CBIZ is not permitted to declare or make any dividend payments, other than dividend payments made
by one of its wholly owned subsidiaries to the parent company. See Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2014 for a description of working capital restrictions and limitations on the payment of dividends.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

Not applicable.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

Not applicable.
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Item 6. Exhibits
 
  10.1 *

  
Second Amendment to Credit Agreement by and among CBIZ Operations, Inc., CBIZ, Inc., and Bank of America, N.A., as agent, lender,
issuing bank, and as swing line issuing bank.

  31.1 *   Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.

  31.2 *   Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

  32.1 **  Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

  32.2 **  Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101*

  

The following materials from CBIZ, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015, formatted in XBRL
(eXtensible Business Reporting Language); (i) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 and 2014, (ii) Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, (iii) Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, and (iv) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

 
* Indicates documents filed herewith.
** Indicates document furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 
      CBIZ, Inc.

   (Registrant)

Date: November 3, 2015  By:   /s/ Ware H. Grove
   Ware H. Grove
   Chief Financial Officer
   Duly Authorized Officer and Principal Financial Officer
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Exhibit 10.1

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT dated as of October 16, 2015 (this “Agreement”) is entered into among CBIZ
Operations, Inc., an Ohio corporation (the “Borrower”), CBIZ, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), the Lenders party hereto and Bank of America,
N.A., as Agent and as the Issuing Bank and as Swing Line Bank. All capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings
given to such terms in the Credit Agreement (as defined below).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Company, the Lenders and Bank of America, N.A., as Agent and as the Issuing Bank and as Swing Line Bank have
entered into that certain Credit Agreement dated as of July 28, 2014 (as amended or modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”);

WHEREAS, in connection with the Credit Agreement, the Company and the other Guarantors have each executed and delivered in favor of the Agent
and the Lenders a certain Guaranty pursuant to which the Company and the other Guarantors have guaranteed the Borrower’s obligations under the Credit
Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that the Lenders agree to amend the Credit Agreement as described below;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Amendments. Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 2 hereof, the Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

(a) Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to restate the proviso at the end of the definition of “Eurodollar Rate” in its
entirety to read as follows:

“provided that (i) to the extent a comparable or successor rate is approved by the Agent in connection with any rate set forth in this
definition, the approved rate shall be applied in a manner consistent with market practice; provided, further that to the extent such market
practice is not administratively feasible for the Agent, such approved rate shall be applied in a manner as otherwise reasonably determined by
the Agent and (ii) if the Eurodollar Rate shall be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed zero for purposes of this Agreement.”

(b) Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to restate the definition of “Obligations” in its entirety to read as follows:

““Obligations” means all advances to, and debts, liabilities, obligations, covenants and duties of, the Borrower or the Company arising
under any Loan Document or otherwise with respect to any Loan or Letter of Credit, whether direct or indirect (including those acquired by
assignment), absolute or contingent, due or to become due, now existing or hereafter arising and including (i) interest and fees that accrue after
the commencement by or against the Borrower or any Guarantor or any Affiliate thereof of any Insolvency Proceeding naming such Person as
the debtor in such Insolvency Proceeding regardless of whether such interest and fees are allowed claims in such Insolvency Proceeding and
(ii) obligations of the Borrower or the Company under any Swap Contract to which a Lender or any Affiliate of a Lender is a party; provided
that the Obligations shall exclude any Excluded Swap Obligations.”



(c) Section 2.03 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to replace all references to “11:00 a.m.” contained in the first sentence of
clause (a) thereof with “1:00 p.m.”.

(d) Section 2.04 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to replace all references to “11:00 a.m.” contained in clause (b) thereof with
“1:00 p.m.”.

(e) Section 2.06 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to replace the reference to “11:00 a.m.” contained therein with “1:00 p.m.”.

(f) Clause (c) of Section 2.07 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“(c) General. Any prepayments pursuant to this Section 2.07 shall be applied first to any Base Rate Loans then outstanding, then to
Eurodollar Rate Loans with the shortest Interest Periods remaining and then to any amounts due under any Swap Contract between the
Company or the Borrower and any Lender, or any Affiliate of a Lender, ratably among the Lenders (and, in the case of such Swap Contracts,
Affiliates of Lenders); provided that if due to a Defaulting Lender’s failure to fund any requested Borrowing, there are Non-Ratable Loans
outstanding at the time of any prepayment, such prepayment shall be applied first to Non-Ratable Loans and then in accordance with the
foregoing order. The Borrower shall pay, together with each prepayment under this Section 2.07, accrued interest on the amount prepaid and any
amounts required pursuant to Section 4.04.”

(g) Clause (d) of Section 2.15 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“(d) Release. Cash Collateral (or the appropriate portion thereof) provided to reduce Fronting Exposure or other obligations shall be
released promptly following (i) the elimination of the applicable Fronting Exposure or other obligations giving rise thereto (including by the
termination of Defaulting Lender status of the applicable Lender (or, as appropriate, its assignee following compliance with Section 11.08(g))) or
(ii) the Agent’s good faith determination that there exists excess Cash Collateral; provided, however, (x) that Cash Collateral furnished by or on
behalf of the Borrower shall not be released during the continuance of a Default or Event of Default (and following application as provided in
this Section 2.15 may be otherwise applied in accordance with Section 9.04 during the continuance of an Event of Default), and (y) the Person
providing Cash Collateral and the Issuing Bank or Swing Line Bank, as applicable, may agree that Cash Collateral shall not be released but
instead held to support future anticipated Fronting Exposure or other obligations.”

(h) Section 3.02 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to replace the reference to “11:00 a.m.” contained therein with “1:00 p.m.”.

(i) Section 4.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to add the following new clause (g) immediately at the end of the existing
clause (f) thereof:

“(g) For purposes of determining withholding Taxes imposed under FATCA, from and after October 16, 2015, the Borrower and the Agent
shall treat (and the Lenders hereby authorize the Agent to treat) this Agreement as not qualifying as a “grandfathered obligation” within the
meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.1471-2(b)(2)(i).”



(j) Article IX of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to add the following new Section 9.04 immediately at the end of the existing
Section 9.03 thereof:

“9.04 Application of Funds. After the exercise of remedies provided for in Section 9.02 (or after the Loans have automatically become
immediately due and payable and the L/C Obligations have automatically been required to be Cash Collateralized as set forth in the proviso to
Section 9.02), any amounts received on account of the Obligations shall, subject to the provisions of Sections 2.15 and 2.16, be applied by the
Agent in the following order:

First, to payment of that portion of the Obligations constituting fees, indemnities, expenses and other amounts (including fees, charges and
disbursements of counsel to the Agent and amounts payable under Article IV) payable to the Agent in its capacity as such;

Second, to payment of that portion of the Obligations constituting fees, indemnities, expenses and other amounts (other than principal, interest
and Letter of Credit Fees) payable to the Lenders and the Issuing Bank (including fees, charges and disbursements of counsel to the respective
Lenders and the Issuing Bank and amounts payable under Article IV), ratably among them in proportion to the amounts described in this clause
Second payable to them;

Third, to payment of that portion of the Obligations constituting accrued and unpaid Letter of Credit Fees and interest on the Loans and L/C
Borrowings and fees, premiums and scheduled periodic payments, and any interest accrued thereon, due under any Swap Contract between the
Company or the Borrower and any Lender, or any Affiliate of a Lender, ratably among the Lenders (and, in the case of such Swap Contracts,
Affiliates of Lenders) and the Issuing Bank in proportion to the respective amounts described in this clause Third payable to them;

Fourth, to payment of that portion of the Obligations constituting unpaid principal of the Loans and L/C Borrowings, payment of breakage,
termination or other payments, and any interest accrued thereon, due under any Swap Contract between the Company or the Borrower and any
Lender, or any Affiliate of a Lender, ratably among the Lenders (and, in the case of such Swap Contracts, Affiliates of Lenders) and the Issuing
Bank in proportion to the respective amounts described in this clause Fourth held by them;

Fifth, to the Agent for the account of the Issuing Bank, to Cash Collateralize that portion of L/C Obligations comprised of the aggregate undrawn
amount of Letters of Credit to the extent not otherwise Cash Collateralized by the Borrower pursuant to Article III, Section 2.07 and/or 2.15; and

Last, the balance, if any, after all of the Obligations have been indefeasibly paid in full, to the Borrower or as otherwise a Requirement of Law.

Subject to Article III and Section 2.15, amounts used to Cash Collateralize the aggregate undrawn amount of Letters of Credit pursuant to clause
Fifth above shall be applied to satisfy drawings under such Letters of Credit as they occur. If any amount remains on deposit as Cash Collateral
after all Letters of Credit have either been fully drawn or expired, such remaining amount shall be applied to the other Obligations, if any, in the
order set forth above. Excluded Swap Obligations with respect to any Guarantor shall not be paid with amounts received from such Guarantor or
its assets, but appropriate adjustments shall be made with respect to payments from other Guarantors to preserve the allocation to Obligations
otherwise set forth above in this Section.”



(k) Section 10.10 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“10.10 Guaranty Matters. The Lenders irrevocably authorize the Agent, at its option and in its discretion to release any Guarantor from its
obligations under the Guaranty if such Person ceases to be a Subsidiary as a result of a transaction permitted hereunder. Upon request by the
Agent at any time, the Majority Lenders will confirm in writing the Agent’s authority to release any Guarantor from its obligations under the
Guaranty pursuant to this Section 10.10. Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, no Lender or Affiliate of a Lender in its capacity as a
party to a Swap Contract with the Borrower or the Company that obtains the benefit of the provisions of Section 9.04 or the Guaranty by virtue
of the provisions hereof or any other Loan Document shall have any right to notice of any action or to consent to, direct or object to any action
hereunder or under any other Loan Document (including notice of or to consent to any amendment, waiver or modification of the provisions
hereof or of the Guaranty or any other Loan Document) other than in its capacity as a Lender and, in such case, only to the extent expressly
provided in the Loan Documents. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article X to the contrary, the Agent shall not be required to verify
the payment of, or that other satisfactory arrangements have been made with respect to, Obligations arising under Swap Contracts except to the
extent expressly provided herein. The Agent shall not be required to verify the payment of, or that other satisfactory arrangements have been
made with respect to, Obligations arising under Swap Contracts in the case of the Revolving Termination Date.”

(l) Clause (e) of Section 11.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“(e) change Section 2.14 or Section 9.04 in a manner that would alter the pro rata sharing of payments required thereby without the
written consent of each Lender;”

(m) Clause (f) of Section 11.08 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to restate the proviso at the end thereof in its entirety to read as
follows:

“provided that notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary the Agent is under no obligation to agree to accept electronic
signatures in any form or in any format unless expressly agreed to by the Agent pursuant to procedures approved by it; provided further without
limiting the foregoing, upon the request of the Agent, any electronic signature shall be promptly followed by such manually executed
counterpart.”

2. Condition Precedent. This Agreement shall be effective upon receipt by the Agent of counterparts of this Agreement duly executed by the
Borrower, the Company, the other Guarantors and the Lenders.

3. Miscellaneous.

(a) The Credit Agreement, and the obligations of the Borrower, the Company and each Guarantor thereunder and under the other Loan
Documents, are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full force and effect according to their terms. This Agreement shall constitute a
Loan Document.

(b) The Company and each other Guarantor, (i) acknowledges and consents to all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, (ii) affirms
all of each Guarantor’s obligations under the Loan Documents (as amended hereby) and (iii) agrees that this Agreement and all documents
executed in



connection herewith do not operate to reduce or discharge each Guarantor’s obligations under the Credit Agreement (as amended hereby) or the
Loan Documents.

(c) The Borrower and the Company hereby represent and warrant as follows:

(i) Each of the Borrower and the Company has taken all necessary action to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of
this Agreement.

(ii) This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and the Borrower and constitutes each of the Borrower’s
and the Company’s legal, valid and binding obligations, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be
limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, or similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally or by equitable
principles relating to enforceability, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law.

(iii) No consent, approval, exemption, authorization or other action by, or notice to, or filing with, any Governmental Authority or
any other Person is necessary or required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by the Borrower or the Company of
this Agreement.

(d) Each of the Borrower and the Company represents and warrants to the Lenders that (i) its representations and warranties set forth in Article
VI of the Credit Agreement and in each other Loan Document are true and correct in all material respects (and in all respects if any such representation
or warranty is already qualified by materiality) as of the date hereof with the same effect as if made on and as of the date hereof, except to the extent
such representations and warranties expressly relate solely to an earlier date, in which case they shall be true and correct in all material respects (and in
all respects if any such representation or warranty is already qualified by materiality) as of such earlier date and (ii) no event has occurred and is
continuing which constitutes a Default or an Event of Default.

(e) This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be an original, but all of
which shall constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Agreement by telecopy or other electronic transmission
shall be effective as an original and shall constitute a representation that an executed original shall be delivered.

(f) THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS AND ANY CLAIMS, CONTROVERSY, DISPUTE OR CAUSE OF
ACTION (WHETHER IN CONTRACT OR TORT OR OTHERWISE) BASED UPON, ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT
OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT (EXCEPT, AS TO ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT, AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH THEREIN) AND
THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY AND THEREBY SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK (INCLUDING SECTIONS 5-1401 AND 5-1402 OF THE GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW OF
THE STATE OF NEW YORK BUT OTHERWISE WITHOUT REGARD TO THE CONFLICT OF LAW PRINCIPLES THEREOF WHICH WOULD
RESULT IN THE APPLICATION OF THE LAW OF ANOTHER JURISDICTION).

[remainder of page intentionally left blank]



Each of the parties hereto has caused a counterpart of this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first above written.
 

CBIZ OPERATIONS, INC., as the Borrower

By:   
Name:  
Title:  

CBIZ, INC.

By:   
Name:  
Title:  

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Agent

By:   
Name:  
Title:  

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as a Lender and as the
Issuing Bank

By:   
Name:  
Title:  
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HUNTINGTON NATIONAL BANK, as a Lender

By:   
Name:  
Title:  

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as a Lender

By:   
Name:  
Title:  

KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Lender

By:   
Name:  
Title:  

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Lender

By:   
Name:  
Title:  

FIFTH THIRD BANK, as a Lender

By:   
Name:  
Title:  

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Lender

By:   
Name:  
Title:  

BMO HARRIS BANK, N.A., as a Lender

By:   
Name:  
Title:  
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GUARANTORS:
 
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF
ATLANTA, LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF
MARYLAND, LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF
CHICAGO, LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF
COLORADO, LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF KANSAS
CITY, INC.
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF
MEMPHIS, LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF NEW
ENGLAND, LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF NEW
YORK, LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF OHIO,
LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF
NORTHERN CALIFORNIA, LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF ORANGE
COUNTY, LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF
PHOENIX, LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF SAN
DIEGO, LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF
FLORIDA, LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF TOPEKA,
LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF
WICHITA, LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF
SOUTHWEST FLORIDA, LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF ST.
LOUIS, LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF
MINNESOTA, LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY OF UTAH,
LLC
CBIZ ACCOUNTING, TAX & ADVISORY, LLC
CBIZ BEATTY SATCHELL, LLC
CBIZ BENEFITS & INSURANCE SERVICES, INC.
CBIZ GIBRALTAR REAL ESTATE SERVICES, LLC
CBIZ RISK & ADVISORY SERVICES LLC
CBIZ INSURANCE SERVICES, INC.
CBIZ KA CONSULTING SERVICES, LLC
CBIZ M & S CONSULTING SERVICES, LLC
CBIZ M.T. DONAHOE & ASSOCIATES, LLC
CBIZ MISSOURI, LLC
CBIZ MMP OF TEXAS, LLC
CBIZ NETWORK SOLUTIONS, LLC
CBIZ NATIONAL TAX OFFICE, LLC
CBIZ RETIREMENT CONSULTING, INC.
CBIZ SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA, LLC
CBIZ LIFE INSURANCE SOLUTIONS, INC.
CBIZ SECURITY & ADVISORY SERVICES, LLC
CBIZ TECHNOLOGIES, LLC
CBIZ VALUATION GROUP, LLC
MHM RETIREMENT PLAN SOLUTIONS, LLC
MULTIPLE BENEFITS SERVICES, LLC

By:   
Name:  Jerome P. Grisko, Jr.
Title:  Executive Vice President
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ASSOCIATED INSURANCE AGENTS, INC.
CBIZ MHM, LLC
CBIZ NETWORK SOLUTIONS CANADA, INC.
CBIZ WEST, INC.
CBIZ TAX AND ADVISORY OF NEBRASKA INC.
 
ONECBIZ, INC.
SUMMIT RETIREMENT PLAN SERVICES, INC.

By:   
Name:  Jerome P. Grisko, Jr.
Title:  President

CBIZ, INC.

By:   
Name:  Jerome P. Grisko, Jr.
Title:  President
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF CBIZ, INC.

I, Steven L. Gerard, Chief Executive Officer, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of CBIZ, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s first fiscal quarter
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
Date: November 3, 2015    /s/ STEVEN L. GERARD

   Steven L. Gerard
   Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER OF CBIZ, INC.

I, Ware H. Grove, Chief Financial Officer, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of CBIZ, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s first fiscal quarter
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
Date: November 3, 2015    /s/ WARE H. GROVE

   Ware H. Grove
   Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF CBIZ, INC.

This certification is provided pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and accompanies the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2015 (the “Form 10-Q”) of CBIZ, Inc. (the “Issuer”) filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof.

I, Steven L. Gerard, the Chief Executive Officer of the Issuer, certify that to the best of my knowledge:
 

 (i) the Form 10-Q fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 (ii) the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Issuer.
 
Date: November 3, 2015    /s/ STEVEN L. GERARD

   Steven L. Gerard
   Chief Executive Officer

 
Subscribed and sworn to before me
this 3rd day of November, 2015.

/s/ MICHAEL W. GLEESPEN
Name: Michael W. Gleespen
Title: Notary Public & Attorney-At-Law
Registered in Franklin County, Ohio
No Expiration Date



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER OF CBIZ, INC.

This certification is provided pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and accompanies the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2015 (the “Form 10-Q”) of CBIZ, Inc. (the “Issuer”) filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof.

I, Ware H. Grove, the Chief Financial Officer of the Issuer, certify that to the best of my knowledge:
 

 (i) the Form 10-Q fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 (ii) the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Issuer.
 
Date: November 3, 2015    /s/ WARE H. GROVE

   Ware H. Grove
   Chief Financial Officer

 
Subscribed and sworn to before me
this 3rd day of November, 2015.

/s/ MICHAEL W. GLEESPEN
Name: Michael W. Gleespen
Title: Notary Public & Attorney-At-Law
Registered in Franklin County, Ohio
No Expiration Date


